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Monday, November 25, 2019
--- On commencing at 9:02 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Is this working now?  I think so, yes.

Good morning.  The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today to hear an application by the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario for review of the Independent Electricity System Operator market rules, amendments implementing a transitional capacity auction.  Those rules are number MR-00439-R00-R05.  They were published by the IESO on September 5th, 2019.

The Board has assigned file number EB-2019-0242 to this proceeding.  My name is Cathy Spoel.  I will be presiding on this hearing.  Sitting with me are Board members Emad Elsayed and Susan Frank.

Could I have appearances, please.


Appearances:


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, panel members.  My name is Ian Mondrow.  I am counsel for the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, the applicant.  AMPCO is the acronym, and to my right is Ms. Laura van Soelen, my co-counsel for the proceeding.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Good morning.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning, Mr. Mondrow, Ms. van Soelen.

MR. ZACHER:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel members.  My name is Glenn Zacher, appearing as counsel on behalf of the IESO, and with me are my colleagues, to my right, Daniel Gralnick, and to my left, Patrick Duffy.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning, gentlemen.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel members.  My name is Eva Krajewska, and I am here on behalf of the Kingston Cogen Limited Partnership, or KCLP for short, and I am here with my colleague to my left, John Minichini.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. BARZ:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel members.  My name is Evan Barz.  I am here on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panel.  My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic.  I am counsel for OEB Staff, and with me on behalf of Staff are David Brown, Chris Cincar, Michael Bell, and Ceiran Bishop, and assisting us with the document projection are Cherida Walter and Lillian Ing.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

First of all I would like to thank everyone for accommodating our early start today.  As you will have seen from the hearing plan that was circulated by Board Staff, we have a very full schedule for the three hearing days this week, and we really don't have any additional time, so we have to get through it all in the three days.

So in that regard we will require parties to adhere to the times allowed for examination and cross-examination in that hearing schedule.  If you take less time, that does not mean the next person gets to take additional time, because there is bound to be little things that come up that will require some time.  So any slippage goes into the pot, not for the next person.

And just so everybody knows, with respect to AMPCO's motion to stay, we expect to issue that decision later today.  So it is for the November 27th time frame.

Are there any preliminary matters before we start?

Great.  There being none, Mr. Mondrow, I think you have Mr. Anderson here.

MR. MONDROW:  I do, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Mr. Anderson is already in the witness table.  If he could be affirmed I will proceed with direct examination when we are ready.
ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS OF ONTARIO - PANEL 1

Colin Anderson, Affirmed.

MS. FRANK:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, just while you and the Panel members are preparing, I did advise Board Staff last week in direct examination so that you can have it handy we'll be referring to four things.

The first -- and we will get exhibit numbers as we introduce them if that is okay.

MS. SPOEL:  That will be great, thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  The first is a letter of November 22nd, 2019, which we did file with the Board, that contains Mr. Anderson's CV and a one-page witness statement.

The second will be Mr. Anderson's affidavit, which was sworn October 31st, 2019.

The third is a set of minutes from a stakeholder advisory committee meeting of the IESO or the IESO stakeholder advisory committee dated April 24th.  We have copies.  You should each have a copy, and we will introduce those when we get there, and we'll be referring to Dr. Brian Rivard's affidavit which was filed in revised version, I think it was last week sometime.

So we will certainly introduce each of those and seek exhibit numbers, but just so you know where we're going to be going.  My mistake.  The affidavit was October 11th, not October 31st.

MS. SPOEL:  I was just going to ask you about that.  I am just trying to pull it up --


MR. MONDROW:  There was only one affidavit.  It was October 11th, thank you, Ms. Van Soelen.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So that package of documents will be Exhibit K1.1.

MR. MONDROW:  I was going to give each of those documents a separate exhibit number --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, sorry, uh --


MR. MONDROW:  -- as we got there, if that is okay.

MS. SPOEL:  Do we have a package of documents?

MR. MONDROW:  No, I didn't produce a compendium with those.  They're all documents already filed, so for the direct I did not produce a compendium.  It sounds like more than it is, I believe, but that is why I wanted to give you a heads-up.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Do we have copies of them?

MR. MONDROW:  You should have copies of everything.  It was all pre-filed, except the SAC minutes, which weren't pre-filed, which you should have on the dais.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, the issue -- it is more of an internal issue that we don't necessarily --


MR. MONDROW:  Oh, I'm sorry --


MS. SPOEL:  -- actually have physically copies in front of us in the hearing room right now.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand.

MS. SPOEL:  They were filed.

MR. MONDROW:  I apologize.  I did advise --


MS. SPOEL:  It's not --


MR. MONDROW:  -- Staff, but I understand there are a lot of documents to manage.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we can get Staff to make a copy, a hard copy of that, for the Panel members now and in the meantime we will be projecting all of the documents on the screen, if we can proceed with the electronic versions for now.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  This is direct.  So we are not going to be going deep into any of this.  I just wanted to identify them.  I apologize if that's --


MS. SPOEL:  No, Mr. Mondrow, it is -- no need to apologize.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Anderson, I think we're ready to begin.  Could you please state your full name for the record?

MR. ANDERSON:  My name is Colin Anderson.

MR. MONDROW:  And your current role in the capacity in which you are here today is as president of the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario, or AMPCO?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have held that role since 2016?

MR. ANDERSON:  Since October of 2016.

MR. MONDROW:  And prior to that you worked in various roles at Ontario Power Generation from 2001 to 2016?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And we have filed your CV, so Madam Chair, this was the letter I referred to a minute ago.  It was dated November 22nd, 2019.  It was filed with the Board in the normal channels, and it is a covering letter, and Mr. Anderson's CV, and then a one-page, what was labelled witness statement.

So if we could get an exhibit number for that package, perhaps, that is the best way to start.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  LETTER FILED WITH THE BOARD DATED 22 NOVEMBER 2019 CONTAINING A COVERING LETTER, MR. ANDERSON'S CV, AND A ONE-PAGE WITNESS STATEMENT.

MR. MONDROW:  And Mr. Anderson, if you could look at your CV which was filed with that package, please, and I will ask you to adopt that as accurate.

MR. ANDERSON:  It is accurate.  Adopted.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And that CV contains the balance of your work experience which began in 1988 at what was then Ontario Hydro?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And you have since and continue to work in the energy sector?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And Mr. Anderson, I would like to take you to your affidavit which was sworn October 11th, 2019.  And that document, because it's been sworn, is already evidence technically, but I would like to ask you whether you are prepared to adopt that evidence in support of AMPCO's application in respect of which you are here today?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am.

MR. MONDROW:  And perhaps we could get an exhibit number for that affidavit, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MR. ANDERSON'S AFFIDAVIT SWORN 11 OCTOBER 2019.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And Mr. Anderson, you were asked a number of interrogatories on that evidence, responses which have been filed, and these are responses from AMPCO to Board Staff interrogatories 1 through 3 and School Energy Coalition interrogatories 1 through 4.

Were those interrogatory responses prepared by you or under your direction and control?

MR. ANDERSON:  They were.

MR. MONDROW:  And do you adopt them as your evidence in support of AMPCO's application?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Anderson, various of the materials filed since AMPCO's application was filed have suggested various motivations for the application.  The IESO has posited that what AMPCO is seeking is relief in respect of energy payments.  KCLP has suggested AMPCO is seeking to limit competition in future capacity auctions.

Can you please reiterate for the Hearing Panel why AMPCO has brought this application?

MR. ANDERSON:  I can.  AMPCO consists of members who provide demand response, but we also have many members who do not provide demand response.  And I represent them all by being here today.

On behalf of the DR resource members, I am here to remedy an inequity created as a result of the market rule amendments that are in question.  And on behalf of the other AMPCO members, I am here in support of a properly competitive market in which prices are as low as reasonably possible.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Anderson, is AMPCO asking the Board to direct that payments be made to demand response resources for energy services provided to Ontario's real time market?

MR. ANDERSON:  No, we're not.  This application was brought pursuant to section 33 of the Electricity Act, and looking at that section, it asks the Board to revoke amendments and to remand them pack to the IESO for further consideration if they find them to be discriminatory in nature or counter to the objects of the Act.

That is clearly set out at paragraph 52 of AMPCO's appeal.

We would expect that the issue of energy payments will be dealt with in due course.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Anderson, your evidence has been challenged on the basis that it is brought on behalf of AMPCO members, rather than AMPCO members providing their own evidence.

I would like to take you, please, to your October 11th affidavit.  If you could open that to paragraph 3, please?

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  And in paragraph 3 of that affidavit, you say in the second sentence:
"I am providing this evidence in my role as president of AMPCO and because of reticence that I perceived among my members to do so themselves."

Can you explain what you meant by that, please?

MR. ANDERSON:  I can.  In theory, any time an entity takes its regulator or its system operator to task, it potentially exposes itself to some form of retribution.

AMPCO provides an additional layer of cover against any such retribution.

Now, do I think retribution is going to happen here in this case?  No, I absolutely do not.  But quite frankly, that doesn't matter, because what I am dealing with is the perceptions, the perceptions of my members, and the perceptions of my members' senior management team who, quite frankly, are uncomfortable being out front of this application, and would request that I would do so on their behalf.

So a lot of those senior management team members don't even necessarily deal with the IESO on a daily basis.  But it is just that perception of potential liability that they are uncomfortable with.

So as part of my role as president of the association, here I am today.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I wonder if you want to give the affidavit an exhibit number at this point since it's been identified.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is this another affidavit?

MR. MONDROW:  No.  This is the affidavit that Mr. Anderson was --


MS. SPOEL:  It was given K1.2 at the beginning.

MR. MONDROW:  I apologize.  Yes, I did, thank you.  Good.  I'm more organized than I thought.

MS. SPOEL:  Ahead of the curve, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  There you go.  Mr. Anderson, where you state in your affidavit, which is Exhibit K1.2, that you have been informed by AMPCO members, can you describe the context for the provision of that information, please?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, I can.  AMPCO has been directly engaged in the Demand Response Working Group and all the stakeholdering associated with that since March 2019.

I have personally attended most, if not all of the stakeholder sessions.  Many times I am there with members right beside me; other times I am there just myself.

As far as I am aware, the IESO has received all of the submissions that I have offered as input from AMPCO.

Those submissions have been informed and created by numerous conversations with my members and my board of directors.

And to be very clear, AMPCO's expressed opinions are validated by its board of directors.  And every single one of those submissions that were filed by AMPCO was reviewed by my board of directors in advance, and they had adopted it and agreed with the content and agreed with my filing it.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson. I would like to take you to paragraph 15 of your affidavit, please.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. MONDROW:  And at paragraph 15, you say:
"In the existing DRA process, an IESO proposed workaround has sometimes been used.  In that workaround, DR resources have increased their capacity offers by an amount sometimes referred to as a utilization payment.  This utilization payment is thought of as a partial proxy for energy payments upon activation.  Inclusion of this proxy allows the DR resources to offer a price that would provide them with some compensation if they are activated for energy."

Now, the IESO has filed evidence, and in paragraph 99 of its evidence, it says it does not know what you are referring to.  And I understand you would like to address this IESO response and clarify the issue which you were addressing in the evidence excerpt that I just read into the record.

MR. ANDERSON:  I would, thank you.  The specific paragraph in the IESO's evidence is paragraph 99, and it implies that it doesn't seem to understand the point that I was making in my affidavit in respect of utilization payments.  So I would like to try to clarify that.

I would like to start with the April 24th, 2019, SAC meeting, which I believe we have copies of and if we could put that up and pull up -- I think it is page 6, that would be helpful.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will make that Exhibit K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED STAKEHOLDER ADVISORY COMMITTEE (SAC) MEETING MINUTES DATED APRIL 24TH, 2019


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  Mr. Anderson if you could just identify the document for the record, and explain what this is.

MR. ANDERSON:  For the record, this is the minutes from the April 24th, 2019, SAC meeting.

MR. MONDROW:  And SAC stands for?

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, Stakeholder Advisory Committee.  I am going to apologize in advance for the number of acronyms.  I will slip up, and you have my apologies, and please capture me and get me to clarify.

MR. MONDROW:  This is a committee of the IESO?

MR. ANDERSON:  It is, major stakeholders providing -- and the IESO can certainly correct me on this -- but providing policy level advice to the IESO senior management and the IESO board of directors.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  So that is Exhibit K1.3, and you wanted to take us to a reference in there?

MR. ANDERSON:  Is it -- can it come up or should it come up?  Did it come up?  There it is.

For the record, the point that I wanted to refer to is in the comments section.  So if we could scroll down to that main paragraph at the bottom half of the page, that would be helpful.  Perfect.  That is perfect.

MR. MONDROW:  This is page number 6, as you can see at the lower left-hand corner.

MR. ANDERSON:  It is, thank you for that.  As I said, this is the minutes from the April 24th, 2019, SAC meeting, a meeting at which I was in attendance.

So I am going to read from this paragraph, starting somewhere around the middle of the paragraph and it starts with the words "Ms. Ingram".
"Ms. Ingram said that DR resources do not receive energy payments when their capacity is delivered under the DR auction, and have been consistently advised by the IESO, since the inception of the DR auction, that this should be reflected in their auction bid prices.  She further noted that under the TCA design, dispatchable fossil fuel generators will receive energy payments for providing capacity, and thus do not have to build this into their auction bid prices, and that this is discretionary to DR participants.  Mr. Short said a conversation about this will take place within the Demand Response Working Group."

Now, I was at that meeting.  I remember Ms. Ingram's expression of this sentiment.  I have actually been told the same thing by a number of my own members and to be clear, I recognize that these minutes don't necessarily highlight the correctness or incorrectness of any given statement.  But nobody at that meeting, to my recollection, called Ms. Ingram and said this is incorrect.

So we have Ms. Ingram, we have the other AMPCO members, and we have the statements that I made in respect of my affidavit dealing with utilization payments.

So whether or not the IESO officially advised the
DR -- sorry, officially DR resources to do this is not the point.  Clearly the IESO and IESO staff were aware that this was something that took place, and had taken place for a number of years.

The point, the real point of this is that such a mechanism no longer works once generators are allowed into the otherwise DRA, demand response auction, when it becomes a transitional capacity auction.

That is the whole issue at play here today, is the issue of the discriminatory nature of the amendments.  That is why I included it in my affidavit.  That is why I understood that the IESO would understand it.  And I hope that clarifies what it was that I was trying to state.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.  I am going to just identify for you, again, Exhibit K1.1, which was the letter dated November 22nd, 2019, the CV which you have already spoken to, and a one-page witness statement which we provided, Madam Chair, to parties in advance just so they would have an indication of two issues connected to Dr. Rivard's evidence that Mr. Anderson wished to address in his direct testimony.  And so that is why I identify that and filed it.

Mr. Anderson, just to those two issues, in his evidence Dr. Rivard goes through a number of scenarios involving a demand response resource consisting of a behind-the-meter generation facility which allows the load customer to displace a portion of its own demand for energy from the market, and Dr. Rivard compares that facility to a load customer who is also a directly connected generator, market participant.

And you wanted to address the aptness of that comparison in Dr. Rivard's evidence.

MR. ANDERSON:  I did, thank you.  Dr. Rivard's example is very specific.  He uses an example of a demand response resource with a behind-the-meter generator, so in that case when activated the demand response resource simply ramps up its generator.

This is, by far, the minority example of what actually happens in a demand response activation.  Typical demand resources don't have behind-the-meter generators.  The majority of them do not.

And what they do, in terms of responding to activation notices, is they dial back their processes.  They shut down equipment.  They stop making whatever widgets that they would rather be making.

These operations incur real costs to do this, beyond the cost of lost production, as highlighted by Dr. Rivard.  And I will give you some examples of this.  I will take the steel industry as an example, because it is probably easier to understand than some of the others.

In a situation where demand response is activated, typically steel manufacturing entities would take out of service called an electric arc furnace.  If that electric arc furnace happens to still have molten steel inside it, you're no longer putting electricity to it to keep it that way.  It will eventually harden up.  That is a very bad thing.  So they do fire on gas.

In addition to that, there's a downstream process where billets are loaded into a furnace for further processing.  Those furnaces are full of refractory, which is basically industrial grade insulation, for lack of a better term.

That refractory, if it is subjected to temperature fluctuations, will crack, break, and fall off.  It is very expensive.  So they also have to fire that furnace with natural gas, which they otherwise would not have to do.  These are costs that are avoidable in a situation where they have been told to activate.

Another example -- and again it is a gas-firing example -- steel melts at somewhere around 2,500 degrees Fahrenheit.  Generally speaking, the facilities that make steel don't have building heating.  They don't need it.  But in a situation in the middle of winter where you have shut down and stopped your process, it starts to get cold, and things inside that facility can freeze up, and they do have to bring in gas-fired heaters to keep that facility warm.  Again, another situation where, but for the activation, you wouldn't be burning that gas and you wouldn't be incurring that cost.

So for those customers there is a much broader range of costs beyond the value of the lost load and a broader range of risks to consider.

And I think one final point that Dr. Rivard makes is an implication based on -- I think it is based on some of his other studies from other jurisdictions that you can simply shift that production, you can make those widgets later.  And some DR resources can actually do that.  Many cannot.  When you lose the production of those widgets, you lose it for good.  You don't just shift it into the off-shift, because you don't have that spare capacity.  And I think that is something that needs to be mentioned in respect of Dr. Rivard's examples.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.

And one final topic from Dr. Rivard's evidence.  He discusses the industrial conservation incentive program.  I think that is referred to commonly as the ICI program.  And I would like you to, if you could, open Dr. Rivard's evidence and turn to paragraph 52, and Madam Chair, this is Dr. Rivard's report.  It is dated November 8th, 2019.  It was revised and refiled on November 21st, 2019, and obviously Dr. Rivard will speak to that.  That may be the appropriate time to give it an exhibit number, but Mr. Anderson did want to comment on one passage from that evidence.  It is page 29, paragraph 52.

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you for that.  I believe --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, it is actually over at the top -- just for the record, Mr. Anderson, it is -- paragraph 52 continues on page 29, and I just want to orient us with the passage.

The passage reads, at the top of page 29 -- it is the third -- second full sentence, and it reads:

"In effect, the ICI rewards DR resources that are also class A consumers by compensating them twice for making their generator available, once through the avoidance of the global adjustment, which recovers the capacity cost of the committed generator, and once through the availability payment."

And you believe there is something missing from that statement.

MR. ANDERSON:  I believe there is something incorrect with that statement, yes.

My understanding of this goes to Dr. Rivard's example of DR Corp. versus, I think it is Gen Corp.  And my understanding is DR Corp. can't simply drop load for ICI, which is the Industrial Conservation Initiative, if you're not there to provide the capacity that you are obligated to provide.  You can only drop it once.

So at ICI times demand response resources will not have the capacity available and will typically pull their offers. In fact, in January and February, July and August, which are the prime ICI months, payments get clogged back on a two-to-one basis.  The IESO will claw back availability payments if you are not there to provide the capacity that you are obligated to provide.

And during those months, the prime ICI months, they will claw them back on a two-to-one basis in terms of number of hours.

So the availability and non-performance charge information is set out in the introduction to demand response auction, which is an IESO document dated May 2017, at page 32, and then on performance factors, this is the two-to-one, is set out in market manual 12, section 7.1.

So the key piece being if you are already bound for ICI you're not getting those available payments any more.  They're going to be clawed back.  You can only drop your capacity once.  If it's not there, you can't drop it again.  And I think that is a key distinction from Dr. Rivard's evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.

Madam Chair, Mr. Anderson is now available for cross-examination.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Ms. Krajewska, I think you are going first on our list.


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  I believe it is Mr. Barz.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, Mr. Barz, okay, sorry.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Barz:

MR. BARZ:  Good morning.  If I may approach the Panel, I have dropped off two copies of the compendium, but I have a third for -- I'm not sure -- but if I might approach and just give you it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We will make that Exhibit K1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  ASSOCIATION OF POWER PRODUCERS OF ONTARIO COMPENDIUM FOR AMPCO PANEL 1.

MR. BARZ:  I may refer to some of the exhibits throughout the cross, but not all of them.  Were all of the Panel members able to locate their copies?

MS. FRANK:  No.

MR. BARZ:  It should just say Association of Power Producers of Ontario at the bottom, on the top -- on the first page, the cover page.

MS. SPOEL:  We have it.

MR. BARZ:  You have got it?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes.

MR. BARZ:  Perfect.

Good morning, Mr. Anderson.  Do you as well have a copy of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario's compendium?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do, thank you.

MR. BARZ:  So in your direct it was established you're the president of AMPCO.  That's correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That is correct.

MR. BARZ:  And you have held -- you have been closely monitoring these amendments since March of 2019.  Is that your evidence?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have been personally involved in both the TCA discussions and the Demand Response Working Group since March of 2019.  A number of my members have been involved with that for years before then.

MR. BARZ:  And you have held regular meetings with your AMPCO members throughout that time, obviously, board meetings, and then you have had informal discussions as well with AMPCO members about the amendments?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have routine meetings with my members, and I have board meetings not quite once a month, probably about eight board meetings per year, and I can guarantee you this has been an agenda item on the board's agenda every month since it started.

MR. BARZ:  I believe your evidence was that you've also had informal meetings with your members about the amendments as well or informal discussions.

MR. ANDERSON:  Informal discussions, yes, correct.

MR. BARZ:  So you specifically discussed the TCA at length then, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  We have had a number of discussions of the transitional capacity auction, yes.

MR. BARZ:  And your members have raised concerns throughout that time about the TCA?

MR. ANDERSON:  My members had raised the concern that, in respect of energy payments for demand response resources prior to that time, as others had as well.

The reason why it becomes so bright is when the TCA is opened up to a second class of participant and both of those classes are not treated the same, it starts to bring forward the issue of the discretionary impact of the market rule amendments.

MR. BARZ:  When would you say that issue coalesced for you?

MR. ANDERSON:  I was just going to say so while my members were engaged in this before, it became particularly bright for them when it was determined that the TCA would commence in December of 2019 in such a way as to make real this discretionary impact.

MR. BARZ:  When was that made real for you, in terms of timing?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think the first time it was announced publicly was March 7th, 2019.

MR. BARZ:  So since March, you have had that -- you and your members have had that knowledge?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. BARZ:  And so to be clear, for about nine months you have known that this was planned, and that this was coming?

MR. ANDERSON:  We have known that this was the IESO's plan, yes.

MR. BARZ:  And the IESO, I believe at their board meeting on August 28th, 2019, they announced -- or sorry, they announced a decision to formally adopt the amendments?

MR. ANDERSON:  The IESO board meeting on August 28th is where the amendments were finally approved by the IESO board, that is correct.

MR. BARZ:  And they were published on September 5th, 2019, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think that is the date.  It sounds approximately right.

MR. BARZ:  I could take you to it in your affidavit, but I am sure that is not really in dispute.

In any event, my question is -- you have been involved in this process.  You have known since March 2019 this was coming.  And you saw the market rule amendments published in September, the decision to pass those amendments in August.

And since that time, AMPCO or its members have not put forward one study regarding the effects of the amendments on AMPCO members, or a particular member?

MR. ANDERSON:  No, we have not advanced any studies.

MR. BARZ:  Not one report?

MR. ANDERSON:  We have not advanced what I would call a report.  We have made no less than five submissions, another one in October, and a joint one with AAEMA, which was a legal brief, all of which detailed the discretionary nature of the market rule amendments, in our opinion.

MR. BARZ:  Absolutely, and we will get to those.  But you don't have one affidavit attesting to the quantifiable impact of the TCA on a member of AMPCO, or on the membership at large of AMPCO?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think in my direct we talked about why you are having this conversation with me, instead of some of my members.

As I said in my direct evidence, I don't necessarily believe any retribution is going to take effect.  But the perception of my members senior management team is otherwise, so...


MR. BARZ:  I appreciate that I think that was made clear in direct. But I do also want to make clear that there isn't actually any evidence of that kind on the record.  That's correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  We haven't filed affidavits from the members and I haven't done a report.

MR. BARZ:  But you have filed six separate submissions in this proceeding?

MR. ANDERSON:  That is correct.

MR. BARZ:  Between March and July of this year?

MR. ANDERSON:  Between March and October of this year.

MR. BARZ:  As you referenced, there was one submission from -- that attached, I believe, a lengthy legal brief from your counsel, Gowlings, that set out your legal arguments in respect to this case?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. BARZ:  It didn't -- again, it didn't have any actual quantifiable evidence regarding the impact of the TCA on AMPCO members or AMPCO -- a specific member generally?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think what was heavily relied upon, counsel, was that this very issue has been debated, fought over, decided and enacted in the US pursuant to FERC order 745.

We have referenced that in, I believe, every single submission that we filed.  And while I understand Ontario is not jurisdictional, with the exception of course of the OEB, FERC is probably the pre-eminent energy regulator in North America. And one of its decisions, I would expect, would hold some weight, even in non-jurisdictional areas, as supported by some of the evidence that was filed by the IESO.

MR. BARZ:  I do intend to get there, but just so I am clear, I know nothing was filed in this proceeding in terms of a report or study from your members or a member.  But did your members ever undertake any analysis, or a report or study at any time?

MR. ANDERSON:  I wouldn't know.

MR. BARZ:  So that wasn't discussed with your members during your various meetings?

MR. ANDERSON:  It was not.

MR. BARZ:  Do you agree that AMPCO or its members had sufficient time to prepare such an analysis, report or study during the nine months this was made clear to you?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would expect it would have been sufficient in terms of timing.

MR. BARZ:  So can I take you quickly to an October 31st, 2019, letter that was submitted on behalf of AMPCO by your counsel.  It is tab 3 in our compendium.

This letter was submitted on October 31st, and it attempted, or at least initially sought permission of the Board to file evidence in this proceeding from Charles Rivers and Associates.  Is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That is correct.

MR. BARZ:  And I am just going to quote here.  I think it is on the second page.  If you go to the second line of the second page, it talks about what that evidence will look like and it says:

"This evidence was projected to relate to," and I quote, "experience with compensation for economic activation of demand response in markets in FERC-regulated jurisdiction," and this is the second piece, the big important piece, "as well as the implications of seeking to apply such compensation in a market like Ontario's."


Is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  This was submitted in response to -- it was either Procedural Order 2 or 3. I believe it was Procedural Order 2 in which there was an indication that the Board would appreciate some additional evidence of this sort, where it had further clarification of the FERC order, order 745, and its implications for Ontario.

That is why we were framing our discussions along this line.

MR. BARZ:  Thank you for clarifying that.  So this October 31st letter, it proposes filing this evidence by November 8, and that is on the third page.  There is a short paragraph on the third page, but I believe it says:  "Given the November 8th deadline for filing evidence in this matter, CRAI has already commenced work on this evidence."


So I believe that was the deadline that CRAI was working towards.

MR. ANDERSON:  That was the deadline we were discussing with Charles River.

MR. BARZ:  So this was filed on October 31st.  You were projecting potentially filing that evidence on November 8th.  So from my understanding, that would be approximately ten days that they could have prepared that evidence in?

MR. ANDERSON:  It was under discussion between ourselves and Charles River, yes.

MR. BARZ:  If such a report could be commissioned in ten, even twenty, even thirty days that would provide implications of seeking to apply such compensation in the Ontario market, so essentially explaining how that compensation mechanism would have impact on the Ontario market and potentially your members, how come you never filed that evidence before, if you knew about this for nine months and you had all of that time to prepare such evidence?

MR. ANDERSON:  As I indicated before, we were looking at this within the context of the request that we had read as part of procedural order No. 2.

We approached Charles River, and as I said, we were having conversations, both with respect to schedule and with respect to cost during the time that we wrote this.

Immediately after this, there were, I believe, two letters filed with the Board that indicated those objections to AMPCO filing additional evidence, stating that they didn't think we had this opportunity and consistent with the procedural order, it didn't specifically call out the applicant.  It called out, I Believe, the IESO or intervenors.

So given the fact that we had not yet confirmed the schedule with Charles River, we had not yet confirmed the cost with Charles River, I represent a not for profit association, sir.  That association does not have unlimited funds and the fact that I am here today is -- I am counting as we go, let's put it that way.

This has not been a cheap endeavour.  I wish it had been. And at the point at which we got the two letters of objection, I said to Mr. Mondrow, that's it.  We're not filing, because I don't have a schedule from Charles River.  I don't have a full-on cost from Charles River.  We haven't signed anything yet and I am not going to tell my Board, who I already convinced that I was going to file some additional evidence, yes, we got the evidence done, it's very good.  Unfortunately, we couldn't file it.  That was a conversation I didn't want to have.

So given the lack of firm schedule, the lack of firm cost, plus the letters from the IESO -- and forgive me, I don't know who the other was -- we decided that's it.  We're not going to file evidence because I am not fighting to file this, potentially losing and spending more money and not even being able to file it.  So that's what played out.

MR. BARZ:  Thank you, I appreciate that clarification.  Just to clarify, though, you could have potentially had that evidence within, say, twenty days, ten days, that was a possibility?

MR. ANDERSON:  We were discussing that with Charles River.  And as you see from page 2 of the Gowling letter, that was the scope of the evidence.

The scope of the evidence was purposely made to resemble what was requested in Procedural Order 2, to try to be of assistance to the Board.

MR. BARZ:  And as I believe you indicated, on November 4th, 2019, AMPCO withdrew its request to file that additional evidence?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. BARZ:  So the Board never ruled on the objection letters that were received from the other parties or never even ruled on your initial request to file that evidence.

MR. ANDERSON:  No, they didn't.  They didn't need to.

MR. BARZ:  So just to be clear, you have put forward no quantifiable evidence of unjust economic discrimination for AMPCO members or an AMPCO member specifically in this proceeding.  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.  I don't think I want to agree with you completely on that, counsel.

MR. BARZ:  I said quantifiable evidence.

MR. ANDERSON:  I understand that.

MR. BARZ:  Have you put forward any quantifiable evidence?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would like to talk to that, if I may.

There's been a lot of discussion and a lot of innuendo in respect of quantifiable evidence and why AMPCO hasn't filed quantifiable evidence, and we don't have members sitting next to us and they haven't disclosed their entire offer strategies.

I guess what I would like to say is, I can't use absolute cost numbers because I don't have those absolute cost numbers.  Those absolute cost numbers belong to my members, and they don't disclose those to an association or its president, so I don't know what their absolute cost numbers are.

And with all due respect, counsel, you don't know either, and neither does Mr. Short.  The IESO response to AMPCO number 2, the second batch of interrogatories, where the IESO confirms that it's not privy to the costs or bidding strategies of DRA participants.

But I do know this:  Directionally, we know that the inclusion of a utilization amount can only increase the demand response capacity offer, regardless of what probability is assigned to its activation, and also that utilization amount for a generator will be zero, because they qualify for energy payments.  So there will be upward pressure applied to DR offers, but none applied to off-contract generators.

And if we look at Mr. Windsor's affidavit, he expects that capacity prices will be lower than they have been in the past.

Finally, paragraph 101 of the IESO evidence shows that they're only securing 675 megawatts, again, in this auction, which is pretty much the same amount that they secured the last time.

So to summarize, we have lower prices.  We have more participants.  We have upward pressure on one class of participant.  And we have the same capacity requirement as last year.

So I get that it's not quantifiable evidence, but I will be amazed if somebody can look at those four points and say that it's not less likely that DR will clear these auctions.

MR. BARZ:  Thank you for that lengthy explanation.  So I will take it that your answer was that you haven't put forward quantifiable evidence, which is fine.

Currently, the only affidavit then from AMPCO is from yourself, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. BARZ:  And to confirm, as president of AMPCO you are not directly responsible for any demand resources, and you have already indicated that you don't have any insight into the actual bidding that your members make in the auction.

MR. ANDERSON:  Also correct.

MR. BARZ:  And AMPCO is a not-for-profit consumer interest advocacy organization?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, we are.

MR. BARZ:  And advocacy organization, effectively a lobbyist, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  We do do some lobbying, yes.

MR. BARZ:  Thank you.  And in your evidence you have made some reference to FERC order 745.  And I believe there's no actual reference to that order in your affidavit, is there?  You don't actually mention the words FERC order 745 in your affidavit, do you?  You don't have to do a complete scan.  I can assure you, it's not there.  But what is there is, you do attach six submissions to your affidavit.  They're Exhibit B to your affidavit.  They're tab 1 in my compendium, I believe.

And all of those refer to FERC order 745 at some point and to some extent.  And I believe that -- and each of the cover letters that precede those submissions are signed by yourself, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  They are.

MR. BARZ:  So do you agree with me that the main proposition that you rely on FERC order 745 for is the notion that demand response resources must be compensated for the service it provides to the energy market at the market price for energy?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think what I rely on order 745 for mostly is just an illustration of how comprehensively this has been debated in another jurisdiction with another energy regulator who is well respected in North America.

All the pros and all the cons, all of the economists and all of the engineers have had their day to put forward their perspective, and FERC has issued order 745, where four out of five of those commissioners have upheld the notion that there should not be discriminatory treatment associated with energy payments for loads versus energy payments for generators.

So while I don't necessarily say we should import 745 exactly, I do say that it's indicative of how much effort and energy has been put into this, and it should be respected for that.

In Ontario we can take what's there, the FERC order, and we can customize it, but certainly the general bones of it have already been argued.  I think that is really what the main point of FERC order 745 and all of my submissions is.

MR. BARZ:  So you will agree with me, though, that there is significant differences between IESO administrative markets and the FERC-regulated jurisdictions, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  There is always differences.

MR. BARZ:  So for example, in Ontario the large electricity customers pay real-time energy prices; is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. BARZ:  And Ontario's electricity market is also expected to evolve differently than the U.S. market, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I'm sorry. I didn't hear that. sir.

MR. BARZ:  Just that the Ontario market is expected to evolve differently than the U.S. market in terms of off -- currently on-contract generators coming off-contract?  That's a difference between the markets here and the market in the U.S.?  FERC-regulated jurisdictions?

MR. ANDERSON:  As I said, there is always differences from market to market, but certainly there is lots of times when we look to the south as an indication of a potential idea for what we want to look at in terms of market renewal or anything else.  There is always a customization that takes place, but in terms of a general direction, a starting point, if you will, we do that quite frequently.

MR. BARZ:  And so another difference would be the global adjustment.  That's another unique factor, and I know you have already addressed it a bit in your evidence, but it is also a unique factor of Ontario's market -- it is just a simple yes or no question -- that doesn't exist in the U.S.  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Global adjustment in its Ontario form does not exist in the U.S.; that's correct.  Its components obviously do, capacity and any other policy charges.

MR. BARZ:  So despite these clear differences between FERC-regulated jurisdictions and Ontario, AMPCO has elected to rely on the FERC order to some extent rather than putting forward any specific evidence of the direct, potentially quantifiable, even theoretical analysis of the impacts on AMPCO members or an AMPCO member in Ontario?

MR. ANDERSON:  We have, yes.  Because as I said before, FERC order 745 is representative of a tremendous amount of effort expended by all parties involved, and it came to a conclusion.

We feel that conclusion is robust and could be taken and customized within the Ontario context.  And we could customize it with respect to some of the things you have referred to and maybe some other things as well.  It provides a starting point and a direction and it should be respected as such.

MR. BARZ:  And AMPCO has not undertaken any analysis of the costs that would be borne by Ontario ratepayers of provide energy payments to demand response resources, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  We have not done an analysis; that's correct.

MR. BARZ:  I just have one more line of questions I would like to ask you.

In your estimation, has the actual auction in Ontario, the demand response auction to date, has it been very successful?  Just a simple yes or no --


MR. ANDERSON:  I am looking for my evidentiary reference where the IESO has indicated that it has been tremendously successful --


MR. BARZ:  I was about to go --


MR. ANDERSON:  I'm happy to take you there, but you can go there.

MR. BARZ:  Perfect.  So if you go to tab 2 in your compendium, it is a news and updates publication.  I believe this is what is quoted in your affidavit.

And in your affidavit -- we don't need to go to both.  It is probably better to go to my tab 2, but I believe you quote it at page -- or paragraph 10 of your affidavit.

The quote you use:

"The auction has been established as a valuable and reliable tool for the IESO to secure capacity on the system.  Decreasing prices year over year demonstrate the ongoing maturity of the demand response market as more consumers participate and competition increases."

Is that the correct reference in your affidavit?

MR. ANDERSON:  It is.

MR. BARZ:  And while we're looking at that news and updates publication there, you will agree with me this publication provides information on how demand response auction has shown growth, in terms of participation in the auction, and the decrease in the cost over the years, on a general high level about what it shows?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, it does.  Yes, I would agree.

MR. BARZ:  But this news and updates publication does not address the effect particularly of demand response resources when called upon to be activated by the IESO, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't see it in there, if it does.

MR. BARZ:  One of the statistics provided in this publication relates to the total amount of megawatts that was cleared in the auction in 2018 for 2019.  I believe it is at paragraph 4.  The total number of cleared megawatts, in the second line there, is 818 megawatts for the 2009 summer commit, and 854 megawatts for the 2019/2020 winter commitment period.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  I see that.

MR. BARZ:  What is your understanding of the total megawatt shortage the IESO presently anticipates for the summer of 2023?

MR. ANDERSON:  Well, you would be better off asking the IESO that question.  But I think it is measured in thousands of megawatts.

MR. BARZ:  I believe it is around 3,844 megawatts was the most recent projection.  I think it is at paragraph 11 of the Short affidavit.  I don't know if we need to go there, but we can even say 3,500 if that is okay.

MR. ANDERSON:  That's fine.

MR. BARZ:  This is a considerable gap, is it not?

MR. ANDERSON:  Between 3,500 and 800?

MR. BARZ:  Yes.

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, it would be.

MR. BARZ:  Are you familiar with the performance to date of demand response resources and test activations?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am familiar with the evidence that's been filed on that, yes.

MR. BARZ:  I would like to take you to tab 5 of my -- sorry, tab 4 of my compendium.  This is an hourly Demand Response Testing Update, presented to the Demand Response Working Group on April 25th, 2019.

Are you familiar with this PowerPoint presentation, having participated in the Demand Response Working Group?

MR. ANDERSON:  As a matter of fact, I was there.

MR. BARZ:  All right.  So that's great, that's helpful.  Can I take you to page 7 of this presentation, please?

This is just a graph that shows the hourly demand response testing performances and the activations.  It is easy to digest because it is a graph.

What's the overall failure rate, at the bottom left hand corner of the page, for test activations that were four hours in duration?

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, the overall?  Or all 4 hours?

MR. BARZ:  The overall failure rate, total.

MR. ANDERSON:  It says at the bottom of the page 58 percent.

MR. BARZ:  So based on this failure rate and the looming capacity gap that we just talked about for 2023, you can understand why the IESO has concerns about the demand response auction?

MR. ANDERSON:  Well, I think we're looking at this a little bit differently, sir.  Certainly the IESO has been more than complimentary about demand response and about the auction performance and the number of participants, the increased competition and the reduction in terms of the cost.

In any situation where they have non-compliances, I would expect them to use the processes that are well established for them to deal with those non-compliances.  I don't think that they should look at that and say, well, the construct should be thrown out.

If you have people that are not compliant, there are processes that exist pursuant to the market rules to deal with those people.  I would expect that is what should happen here, not throw out the entire construct.

MR. BARZ:  Thank you.  I am just going to look through my notes to see if I have any more questions for you.

That's it for me.  Thank you very much, Mr. Anderson.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Barz.  Ms. Krajewska, I think you are up now, right?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Yes, Madam Chair, I am, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Krajewska:


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  So just for the Panel and for the witness, we have prepared a cross-examination compendium for Mr. Anderson.  It looks like this.  I am just holding it up.  It has Kingston Cogen Limited on it, cross-examination compendium, panel 1, AMPCO.  The Panel members have that.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, thank you.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Anderson, have you been able to locate that on your table?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have it in front of me.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Perfect, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It will be Exhibit K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  KINGSTON COGEN LP COMPENDIUM FOR AMPCO PANEL 1


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Thank you.  Mr. Anderson, my name Eva Krajewska, and I am counsel to Kingston Cogen Limited Partnership.  I would like to start off by asking you questions with respect to the ICI.

Mr. Anderson, you are familiar with what is known as the global adjustment?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Anderson, at a high level, the global adjustment is a monthly fee paid by Ontario consumers to cover the fixed costs to build and maintain generation assets in the province.  Would you agree with that statement?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would probably reframe that statement in the following sense.  The global adjustment represents the difference between contracted and regulated prices and whatever the HOEP happens to be in a given hour.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  If I take you to page 4 of the compendium, the third full paragraph in the middle, this is a paper by Dr. Rivard with respect to the global adjustment.  Do you disagree with his description, or would you just describe it differently?

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, can you point me to the paragraph?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Yes.  So the third full paragraph that starts with "one component".  The second sentence there is a description of the global adjustment.  Do you disagree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't necessarily disagree with it, but I think I would prefer my own definition to this one, quite frankly.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And, Mr. Anderson, would it be fair to say that today the global adjustment is the largest component of the average consumer's electricity bill?

MR. ANDERSON:  Very fair.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Anderson, I would just like to take you a bit through the history of the global adjustment.

Now, prior to 2011, the global adjustment was allocated to all Ontario consumers on a volumetric basis, which means that the costs of the global adjustment were summed and allocated equally over all megawatt hours consumed in the province.  Is that how it worked before 2011?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's how it worked before the ICI was put in place, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Correct.  Then in 2011, the government of Ontario introduced the ICI, which is known as the Industrial Conservation Initiative.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And at a high level, this change was intended to provide large consumers with an incentive to reduce consumption at critical peak demand times.  Would you agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  Among other things, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And under this ICI, there are two classes of consumers, and the first class are what are known as class A consumers, is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  There is also class B consumers, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And class A consumers are those who consume, on average, monthly -- on a monthly basis 5 megawatts, is that correct?  That was until -- like originally, that is what it was?

MR. ANDERSON:  Originally, that is what it was.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Originally, that's what it was.  And then class B consumers are everybody else?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And today that class A has changed now, where it is an average monthly consumption of 1 megawatt with some other options for others to opt-in.  Is that relatively true at a high level?

MR. ANDERSON:  One megawatt across the board and then depending on NAICS code, it could be as low as half a megawatt, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Correct.  And you would agree that the ICI offers, therefore, large industrial consumers an incentive to reduce their consumption during critical peak demand hours?

MR. ANDERSON:  My understanding of the ICI program is for large industrial consumers to reduce load during the five coincident peaks, the time when you really need the additional capacity.

Those customers provide an incredible system benefit by doing so.  And I believe the IESO in its recent long-term plan attributes either 14 or 1,500 megawatts to that program.  That is 14 or 1,500 megawatts that would otherwise have to be procured, presumably through a capacity auction.

So there is a tremendous amount of system benefit that is provided by the ICI program, and in response to that, the members who provide that have a different way of calculating how much global adjustment they pay, so, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  That's right.

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, if I take you to tab B of my compendium, this is the market surveillance report panel done by the OEB from 2018.  This is the extract from the executive summary.

I would just like to take you through a few points here.  The second paragraph:

"The stated purpose of the ICI is to provide large consumers with an incentive to reduce consumption at critical peak demand times."

I think you would agree with that, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And the third paragraph, the second sentence, it talks about how the global adjustment has grown since its inception in 2006, and you would agree with what the market surveillance report panel wrote there?

MR. ANDERSON:  You mean the 700 million in 2006 up to 11.9 billion?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Correct.

MR. ANDERSON:  In 2017?  I would agree with that.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And in the fourth paragraph there's a sentence that reads:

"Since its introduction in 2011, the ICI has shifted nearly 5 billion in electricity costs from larger consumers to smaller ones."

Do you take issue with that finding by the panel?

MR. ANDERSON:  I wouldn't necessarily use the word "shift".  I would say allocate.  And I would go further to say that the ICI mechanism is simply an allocation methodology.  And that allocation methodology exists in other jurisdictions as well, such as PJM.

The problem in Ontario, counsel, if I can go as far as to say this, is not the allocation methodology that is used to allocate global adjustment.  It is the magnitude of the global adjustment.

At $12 billion a year -- and actually, it is a little more than that this year -- you can allocate it whatever way you want and it is still going to result in high rates.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, on the next page, page 10 of the MSP report, there is criticism that the ICI -- in the first full paragraph:

"In the panel's view, the ICI as presently structured is a complicated and non-transparent means of recovering costs, with limited efficiency benefits."

Do you agree with that criticism from the MSP panel?

MR. ANDERSON:  No, I am not going to agree with that one.  It is complicated, there is no question about that.  Ratemaking is complicated, and quite frankly, ICI is a ratemaking mechanism.

The limited efficiency benefits invokes the economist's notion of efficiency versus what others would consider to be a more practical approach would be cost reduction, or savings to consumers.

Certainly I can say more about that, if you'd like, in regards to the Rivard -- Dr. Rivard's analysis.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.  Well, we might get there later.  But let's get through this document first.

So page 11 of the report, Mr. Anderson, the second paragraph, the second sentence of that second paragraph reads:
"Since its introduction, participation in the ICI has shifted nearly 5 billion in global adjustment costs from larger consumers to residential consumers."

I assume you agree with that except that you would say "allocated" instead of "shifted"?

MR. ANDERSON:  It has allocated, and I do remember this report, and I think it had an unusual focus on exclusively the costs, but I don't believe from front page to back page that everyone mentioned the benefits associated with ICI.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, as we heard, you represent the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario; that's correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, it is.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And how many members do you have?

MR. ANDERSON:  We have approximately 40.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And do you keep track of which class of consumers each of your members belongs to?

MR. ANDERSON:  I actually do not.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  So you don't keep track of how many of your members are class A consumers versus class B consumers for the purpose of the global adjustment?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do not.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Do you have any rough sense of what percentage fall into which category?

MR. ANDERSON:  Oh, I think it is fair to say the majority of my members would be class A, but I don't have a specific list somewhere where I categorize them accordingly.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  And that is on the basis that I understand your membership includes large industrial consumers of energy or industry.  Is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, in your affidavit you state at paragraph 3 -- and this is at tab C of the compendium, paragraph 3 -- you state:

"AMPCO has brought this application on behalf of its members who will be negatively impacted by the amendments at issue."

Does that statement apply equally to your class A as well as your class B members?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think, based on the information that I provided in my direct evidence, I could say that it applies to all members, because if those members provide demand response they will be disadvantaged in the auction process.

If those members do not provide demand response, they just pay their electricity bills, then they would want what AMPCO wants, which is the lowest possible bill based on the construct of the demand response auction, transitioning to the transitional capacity auction --


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  So --


MR. ANDERSON:  -- so I would say all of them.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  So -- okay.  But its impact on your membership would depend on what type of a consumer of energy they are?

MR. ANDERSON:  Whether they're a demand response proponent or not.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Correct.  So that --


MR. ANDERSON:  I don't see the class A/class B distinction.  I seem to be missing that.  But I would say there is a distinction between someone who provides demand response and someone who does not.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And do you think there is a distinction between your class A and your class B membership in terms of how they are impacted by the amendment?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would expect that most demand response, whether it is dispatchable load or HDR, would be class A participants.  That is my expectation, and I believe there is an interrogatory that the IESO has provided that substantiates that.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, I would like to move on to the historical clearing price, and this is tab D, like dog.  Sorry, I don't usually use the military terms for exhibit numbers.

[Laughter]

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Delta.  Thank you, Ms. van Soelen, thank you.

Mr. Anderson, at paragraph 36 onwards, the IESO has provided evidence as to the -- what the average hourly Ontario price of energy has been and the bid prices and the average of bid prices under the DRA.  You see that at paragraph 37.

And you don't disagree that DR load bid prices under the DRA have averaged about 1,500 megawatts an hour, do you?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't dispute that, no.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  No.  And at paragraph 38, the IESO states that:

"HDR resources have only been economically activated on one occasion since the introduction into the DRA."

You don't dispute that either.

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't dispute that.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And in paragraph 39, that:

"Dispatchable loads have been economically dispatched less than 1 percent of the time over the same period."

You don't dispute that either?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't I don't dispute that both dispatchable loads and HDR resources haven't been activated very often, and I would also expect that their activation energy offers are high.  And I would say that if I was going to get paid exactly zero dollars for activating I would keep my energy offers high too.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Well, we will get to that.

Mr. Anderson, at paragraph 15, which is at tab E for echo, of my compendium.  Paragraph 15 of your affidavit.  And my friend Mr. Barz has already taken you to some of the -- sorry, you spoke about this in your examination in-chief.

You spoke about the work-around that has sometimes been employed in order to, I guess, you say obtain a utilization payment.

And you were asked a question from OEB Staff with regards to this to provide kind of data with respect to what this work-around or utilization payment represents.

And your response is at tab F of my compendium and on the second page of that response -- sorry, third page, at the top you state that:

"The cost elements associated with curtailment are specific to each individual participant, based on a number of business and operational factors and no two participants are likely to have the same characteristics."


And you stand by that today, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I absolutely do.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  So depending on each of the demand response, but depending on their industry or any other specifics, whatever work-around they need to factor into their offer price is going to be unique to each of them.  Is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would say their costs, their comfort in respect to risk tolerance -- which would drive the number of curtailments they were expecting -- and any other considerations that all impact on cost would be absolutely entity-specific and it may not even be consistent.  It may change seasonally, or with some other variable.

But each one of the DR resources would have a different way of looking at how they frame their offers.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Correct.  And they're going to use these factors that you have listed in order to come up with their offer price.

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And these are going to be very specific to each entity?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And so, Mr. Anderson, I feel like you have moved away from a position that compensating DR resources with the market clearing price will compensate them for these very factors.

MR. ANDERSON:  Oh, I think that is a logic leap I can't follow you on.

What I have said is that each one of the demand response resources has to frame its own offers, both for capacity and for energy, based on its risk tolerance, its costs, all of the factors that I have listed in AMPCO's response to Board Staff 1.

At some point, if a decision is taken in regard to will energy payments be made for DR resources, there has to be some structure to that.

And I think if I can pause for just one moment, and take you to Exhibit B from my affidavit -- it's Exhibit B, page 22 of 40.

The IESO listed potential approaches for consideration of out-of-market activation of DR resources, and it talks about using energy bids as representative costs, historical precedence such as CBDR, which is a program that predates the demand response auction...


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  I'm sorry, can you slow down.  I think it is being pulled up on the screen.  Your page 22 of 40 of your affidavit?

MR. ANDERSON:  Exhibit B of my affidavit.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, my apologies.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Are you under number 2, out-of-market activation of DR resources?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  You are going through those bullets.

MR. ANDERSON:  I am looking at those three bullets, because those three bullets represent what the IESO put forward as potential options for payments.

The first was using energy bids as representative costs.  The second was historical precedent, which is just a somewhat arbitrary number, as was done with the CBDR program. The third is identify costs on individual or type of resource basis.

I think what you are suggesting is that because all resources are different, that that third bullet would be the most accurate way to do it, and you may not be wrong.  But it would also be an administrative nightmare for the IESO.  I wouldn't wish that on anyone.

So you can see...


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But --


MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, I wanted to finish.  You can see there were three options that were advanced by the IESO.  AMPCO thinks it should be a market-based approach, because this is the most consistent with all other payments of this sort.

But your element is in there in respect to that last bullet.  There was consideration of individual amounts being considered.  But I think universally in the comments that were made as part of the stakeholder process, that particular option was deemed to be administratively unworkable.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  You say it should be a market-based approach.  Are you referring to the first bullet, using energy bids at representative costs?

MR. ANDERSON:  Again, this is - I don't want to get out ahead of the IESO stakeholder consultation, because certainly this is something that would be determined pursuant to that.  But it would have to be a market-based approach, I think.

And there was discussion of the top two bullets and I think again, most people in the room were more interested in something along the lines of the first bullet, without being as specific as that.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But the FERC order 745 that you relied upon, that's the first bullet.  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  FERC order is the location of marginal price for whatever the specific area is.  And again, as I've said in the past, the FERC order is illustrative and it gives us a really good starting point.  It doesn't necessarily have to be exactly where we land, given the Ontario context.

But, yes, I think that would be an appropriate place to start.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Anderson, I am going to take you back to tab F of your cross-examination compendium, which is your response to the interrogatories from Staff.

The list of factors, do they represent the variable costs of your membership?  Do they represent the marginal cost of your membership in putting in the offer price?  I mean, what do they represent in economic terms?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, I am going to put my hand up right now and say I am not an economist.  But what we're looking at here in terms of the cost per curtailment, there is a large category of lost opportunity cost.  And then what it is framed as is semi-variable cost recovery.  I would say that is variable costs, and that includes labour costs, other overhead, and really other costs for the production facility -- the gas firing that I talked about, for example, in the electric arc furnace or in the reheat furnace would fit in that category.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And if you --


MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, I just want to finish and give a complete answer.

If you turn the page to number 3, I guess it is, the other consideration, it talks about administrative costs and that's administrative costs of actually doing the DR business.

It also talks about shut down and start up risk and there are costs associated with that.  Wear and tear on equipment is a very real cost, and the other thing to think about is in a number of these process-oriented facilities, when start up and shut down, you've gone outside your quality boundaries for a period of time.

So you are wasting, whether it is pulp and paper or whether it is steel, or whatever the widget is that comes out the back end of that facility, you have wasted a chunk of it.  So those are very real costs.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But in each of those circumstances, the DR resource would factor that cost into their bid price, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Each resource would factor it in in the way it saw as appropriate.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Anderson, I would like to -- in your witness statement, you take issue with Mr. Rivard's evidence with respect to his models that look at DR resources that have a behind-the-meter generator.  That's correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And, Mr. Anderson, you have not filed any evidence with respect to how many of your members have behind-the-meter generators.

MR. ANDERSON:  I have not, no.  But as I said in my -- I believe in my direct, those who have behind-the-meter generation are in the far minority to those who do not.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But that information is also - how many, or which demand  response resources or consumers of energy have behind-the-meter generators?  That's not a matter that is known publicly.

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't expect it would be.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And you said that the majority of your membership, however, is -- are class A consumers under the GA.

MR. ANDERSON:  That's true.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, if I can take you to -- this is tab G of the compendium.  This is a further extract from the Market Surveillance Panel Report prepared by the OEB.

And the second paragraph -- or the full first paragraph there reads:

"The ICI creates an incentive for class A consumers to invest in new generating of storage capacity located at their facilities.  On-site generation offsets consumption from the transmission or distribution..."

Do you see that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And the second paragraph, the second sentence reads:

"In 2017 and 2018, three Class A consumers made a combined 33 applications to the Ministry of Climate Change to build a total of 44 megawatts of natural gas-fired capacity."

Do you see that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And do you see footnote 15?  It cites a study that there has been a boom in the construction of behind-the-meter generators.  Do you disagree with those observations made by the OEB?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am going to qualify those observations made by the MSP.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Yes.

MR. ANDERSON:  And I am going to say the following.  I have a number of members and a number of members who have considered doing this, and they fit squarely into one of three buckets.  They're either the people that have done it and will do it, and there are few, not that many.  They're people that would like to do it but they can't do it.


And I will explain why they can't do it.  Maybe it is an entity that has facilities in Ontario and in the northern U.S. and in the southern U.S., and they go to board meetings where they sit around and table and that board of directors looks at the entity in Ontario and says, 'Let me get this straight.  All you need is $300 million to drop a gas-fired facility in your back yard, and your power price will be the same as his in Alabama.'  It is a very short conversation.  There is no approval for that capital.  It doesn't happen.

So there is a group of individuals or members who are like that.  And then there is the third group of members, who don't want to play in the electricity space.  They don't want to participate in DR.  They just want to make their widgets.  They site it in Ontario for a number of reasons, one of which was more affordable power prices than there are today, and they want to keep making whatever it is that they make, and they want me to look after all of the other stuff so they don't have to do it.  They have zero interest in behind-the-meter generator.  They do not want to be a generator.  They want to be an industrial.

So there is a number of members with a number of different motivations, but I stand by my initial, that most of the DR providers in my group, in my association, do not have behind-the-meter generation.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Again, you haven't filed any evidence to confirm that statement.

MR. ANDERSON:  I am on the record.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Anderson, if I take you back to your witness statement, you state in this witness statement that:

"When process loads provide demand response they shut down process equipment, which entails incremental costs and associated risks."

And in this statement you have not provided evidence of what the types of costs that you refer to.

MR. ANDERSON:  No.  I would actually direct you to Board Staff number 1.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  You would refer back to that interrogatory response?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think I indicated as we talked very briefly about some of those line items the distinction between them, and Category 1 includes the variable costs at the bottom, which would include what I am talking about in the examples that I set out in my direct evidence, the incremental gas firing.

And those costs are avoidable costs, but for the activation of the demand response resource.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But sir, you have not provided -- I mean, you provided them at a high level, but you are not able to speak in terms of specific of what is the dollar per megawatt reduction in cost that each of those curtailments entails.

MR. ANDERSON:  I think I also addressed that in direct and said I don't have those numbers, and according to the IESO response to their interrogatory to AMPCO number 2, they don't have them either.  The people that have them are the demand response resources, and they're not going to tell you what their costs are.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Krajewska, you have about one more minute.  Are you just about done?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.  Let me -- I am almost done.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Thank you for the time warning.

And Mr. Anderson, I would like to ask you, you stated earlier that with respect to the ICI, you stated that if the DR resources participates in the ICI, then they cannot also be available in order to provide demand response under the DRA.  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  They do not get paid twice.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  But under the market rules, the most that a DR resource would be charged, if not available under the DRA, would be two times the hourly DRA auction price.  Is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's my understanding, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  And the DR resource is still available -- still receives availability payments in the hours they are available the rest of the year?

MR. ANDERSON:  If they're available they do receive availability payments if they have cleared the auction; that's correct.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  And in contrast, generators do not benefit from avoiding GA by making themselves available during peak demand hours.  That is just not how it works.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, can you run that one by me again?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Generators -- generators are not -- can't participate in the ICI by definition.  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Generators typically would self-supply when they are generating electricity.  So there would be a net amount and there would be a gross amount, and typically newer generators all self-supply their own station service.  So --


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And generator --


MR. ANDERSON:  -- they're not drawing, they're injecting.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  They're injecting, exactly.  And generators have only have one source of revenue for being available, the availability payment.

MR. ANDERSON:  And the energy payment that they get when they're activated.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  If they're activated, correct.  But in terms of demand -- they're similar to demand response resources in terms of the availability payment.

MR. ANDERSON:  They're similar to demand response in that both qualify for availability payments, whereas generators qualify for energy payments and demand response resources currently do not.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But demand response resources may also qualify for ICI?

MR. ANDERSON:  I'm perplexed by the focus on ICI when it is a completely separate program.  ICI is not a payment. ICI doesn't have costs.  ICI is an allocation methodology for the global adjustment --


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  But they are going to benefit from that program.

MR. ANDERSON:  They provide system benefit, as we've already talked about, to the tune of 14 to 1,500 megawatts is what the IESO relies on in its system planning, and they drop the peak by approximately that much.  That avoids the need to build additional capacity or to secure it through a capacity auction.  That is an incredible system benefit.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And they receive a benefit in the form of potentially not paying any global or paying a global adjustment based on how much they consume during those peak hours.

MR. ANDERSON:  The industrial consumers pay on a five coincident peak basis, which is consistent with what other jurisdictions do.  And the reason for that is they don't -- it's not because of the industrials that those peaks occur.  Those peaks occur because of the rest of us, residential and commercial, and we crank up the air-conditioning when it gets hot for the third day in a row.  That's not the industrials.  They're not creating the peak problem.  They're providing a solution.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Anderson, in terms of -- my last question to you is, you say that the amendments are discriminatory, and I appreciate that you stated that you weren't an economist, but how should the OEB evaluate the discrimination?  Should it be on the basis of horizontal equity, vertical equity?  What would you -- how would you state that the OEB should evaluate the discrimination?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am certainly not even going to try to frame it within the context of economic parlance.

What I am going to say to the Board is that we have two entities that are participating in the same auction.  One of those entities gets two payment streams, the other gets one for providing the same thing.

That seems discriminatory in nature to me, and it is driven exclusively by the amendment impacts or the impacts of the amendments as currently crafted.  That is the practical man's approach to it, as opposed to the economist's.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Zacher, I think you are next.

MR. ZACHER:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Zacher:

MR. ZACHER:  Madam Chair, Panel members, I will be principally referring to a compendium, cross-examination compendium, that the IESO filed yesterday.  So you should have that.  Perhaps we could mark that as the next exhibit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Exhibit K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  IESO COMPENDIUM FOR AMPCO PANEL 1

MS. SPOEL:  We have that one, Mr. Zacher, thank you.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Anderson, you appreciate that both the demand response auction and the transitional capacity auction are ultimately steps in the IESO's long-standing initiative to evolve a broader competitive capacity auction?  Is that fair?

MR. ANDERSON:  I understand that is their approach, yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, and you agree with that.  You say so in your -- the Gowlings legal brief, which I can take you to, if you'd like.

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't think you need to take me to it.  But I wouldn't be quite as exclusive as you are implying, because I made other submissions on the incremental capacity auction that I discussed with the IESO, which says while we think going the capacity auction route can be beneficial, I don't want the IESO to only have one tool in its toolbox.

Capacity auctions and procurement contracts could be used in tandem to solve resource adequacy issues in Ontario.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.

MR. ANDERSON:  I think that -- I can pull up that...


MR. ZACHER:  No, no, that's fine.  But it's been understood since the launch of the DRA, and more recently with the proposed launch of the TCA, that this is all part of the IESO's larger market rule -- sorry, market renewal initiative to transition off-contracts and to adopt market mechanisms, including a broader technology-neutral capacity auction?

MR. ANDERSON:  Up until this year, the transitional capacity auction was supposed to transition the demand response auction into the incremental capacity auction.  I am trying desperately to stay away from acronyms; I apologize.

That is what it was intended to do, the ICI, the incremental capacity auction, has now been placed on -- I don't know.  You would have to ask your client if it is on hold, or if it's life support, or something else.

MR. ZACHER:  Maybe I could ask you to turn up tab 5 in our compendium.  This is a report of the market surveillance panel dated May 2016, and if you flip to page 92, the first full paragraph, you will see the MSP for the first time reporting on the DRA and the MSP says:

"The IESO is planning to introduce new market mechanisms for procuring additional capacity to meet future system needs.  Over the course of 2015, the IESO has advanced initiatives in this direction.  Capacity auctions for demand response is a first stage in the development of capacity auctions for other resources and the consideration of capacity exports."


Then at the bottom of the page:

"The DR capacity auction is intended to be the first phase of the IESO's efforts to introduce capacity markets for all resources.  The IESO conducted several information sessions over 2014."


So this is 2015.  It's known at that time, Mr. Anderson, that the DRA is a step towards a broader capacity auction.  Do you agree with the MSP?

MR. ANDERSON:  To be clear, I am not disputing that that was the direction in 2014-2015, Mr. Zacher.

What I'm saying is I am not sure what the status is today.

So up until the point where it was cancelled, absolutely, this is the direction that was being pushed by the IESO publicly.

I don't know what the status of the ICA is completely right now; that's all I am saying.

MR. ZACHER:  If you look on to the next page, the same Excerpt, page 93, you will see that it is also signalled -- this is sort of two-thirds of the way down the page:  "The IESO also recommended that the development of the capacity auction and capacity export markets be continued, with consideration given to facilitating broad participation including by non-utility generators."


So it was again signalled in early 2015 that off-contract generators were also to be provided with an opportunity to participate in a broader capacity auction.  You agree?

MR. ANDERSON:  I see that, yes, I agree with it.

MR. ZACHER:  And so it was never intended that the DRA, as you suggested in your evidence, was to be exclusive to demand response, that it was to evolve of into an auction that was to include all potential capacity resources.

MR. ANDERSON:  I think AMPCO has been remarkably clear that we have no issue with the demand response auction transitioning to a transitional capacity auction, which includes off-contract generators.

What we have an issue with is what we believe is discriminatory impacts of the amendments that have been put forward to effect that.

We have no issue with the increased participation.  We just want to participate on a level playing field.

MR. ZACHER:  Fair enough.  So I am going to come back to that first point.  But you have been supportive of evolution towards a larger more competitive capacity auction?

MR. ANDERSON:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And again, just for a little bit of context, I would like to refer you to tab 6 of the IESO's compendium, and this is a May 2017 report of the market surveillance panel.

You will agree, Mr. Anderson, that over time, the MSP has reported on the DRA and has encouraged the IESO to accelerate steps towards a more competitive auction?  You agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  Can you show me that with reference to this exhibit that you have referred me to?

MR. ZACHER:  If you look at page 98 under the heading 3.21:  "The IESO views the DR auction as an initial step towards the evolution of capacity procurement in the province, one in which and you generating and DR capacity is procured through an integrated auction.  The panel supports this long-term objective."


And if you flip over to page 103 -- or rather, 104, the first full paragraph after the italicized provision:

"Currently, DR is the only capacity procured through an auction process by limiting competitive procurement to one resource type, the IESO is limiting its ability to procure capacity at least cost.  Fortunately, the IESO is considering the introduction of a technology-neutral capacity market, allowing for DR resources to compete against other technologies to provide capacity at least cost in the future."


Finally, on to page 106 and last sentence of the second paragraph:

"Not only is the technology-neutral capacity auction a more cost-effective way to procure capacity, but the timing of its implementation aligns far better with Ontario's capacity needs."


Do you agree, again, Mr. Anderson, that the MSP was encouraging this, and it was well known to DR participants that this is where the DR auction was evolving?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And AMPCO agrees with the sentiments expressed by the MSP, that a broader technology-neutral capacity auction increases competition, reduces capacity prices, and is beneficial for consumers?

MR. ANDERSON:  Provided that the rules that have been struck do so in a non-discriminatory fashion, I agree with that, yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And in response I believe to -- it was either Ms. Krajewska or Mr. Barz's comments, you referred to the fact that the first TCA is going to have roughly the same amount of target capacity as previous DR auctions.  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  But there will be more participants, prices will be lower, and that's what competition is supposed to do, correct?  And as you've said, your non-DR members are in favour of that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I will say it again.  We have no issue with the auction being expanded to include off-contract generators, as long as it's done so pursuant to market rules that are non-discriminatory in nature.  That is not the case that we're in currently.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And as you said, to the extent that the TCA which is to be run in early December involves more participants, results in lower capacity prices, that's a good thing.

MR. ANDERSON:  For competition, yes, it is.  And for those who pay the bills, yes, it is.

MR. ZACHER:  And for consumers?

MR. ANDERSON:  For those who pay the bills, the ones that I represent are very interested in that.

MR. ZACHER:  So Mr. Anderson, if I can just understand the source of your -- AMPCO's complaint.  And perhaps I could refer you to your affidavit, which is at tab 2 of the IESO's compendium.

If you could turn up Exhibit B and go to -- it says page 31 of 40.  Do you have that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have that.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So this is the AMPCO AAEMA legal brief that you earlier referred to that was submitted to the -- I guess as part of the TCA rule amendment stakeholder process.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And AAEMA again is who?

MR. ANDERSON:  The Association of Advanced Energy Management Association, excuse me.  Sorry, I know my own acronym.

[Laughter]

MR. ZACHER:  And I guess as compared to AMPCO, AAEMA represents relatively more HDR, hourly demand response, resource; is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Generally speaking, yes, they would be more aggregators and we would be industrial proponents of the programs.

MR. ZACHER:  And I guess notwithstanding that AAEMA sponsored this -- jointly sponsored this brief, the AAEMA representative on the technical panel ultimately voted in favour of the amendment.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am aware of that.

MR. ZACHER:  And so supports proceeding with the TCA in December?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am aware that the AAEMA member supported the market rules at the technical panel.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So if you flip a page over in that brief to paragraph 13 and 14, paragraph 13, you submit that:

"While AAEMA/AMPCO support broadening of the DRA into a more robust and competitive capacity auction mechanism, they are concerned that in the current state of the market for DR such broadening will not only fail to enhance competition for the benefit of Ontario consumers, it will have the opposite effect."

And in the ensuing paragraph, paragraph 14, you say:

"Generation resources have other revenue opportunities in the IESO-administered markets, including payments for energy services, provided DR resources do not currently have commensurate revenue opportunities for energy services."

So the gist of your -- I guess the source of your complaint, Mr. Anderson, is the fact that generators receive energy payments in the energy market and loads don't.

MR. ANDERSON:  That, in my mind, Mr. Zacher, is the illustration of the discriminatory nature of the amendments that have been put forward to the market rules.

MR. ZACHER:  So the amendments concern the conversion of the DRA into a transitional capacity auction, effectively a capacity auction that includes some supply resources.  Right?

MR. ANDERSON:  They do.

MR. ZACHER:  And you don't take issue in your evidence anywhere with any of the mechanics of the TCA.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, can you reframe that?  I am not following you.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, you don't -- correct me if I'm wrong, but nowhere in your evidence do you identify any deficiencies in the TCA rules.

MR. ANDERSON:  The submissions that we've made were made at a high level and did not go into the specific markups of the market rules that are being changed.

The submissions we made, each and every one of them reference the discretionary impact of those specific changes to the market rules.

MR. ZACHER:  So let me drill down.  So in the TCA, generators and -- those generators that can participate at this stage and demand response resources will both bid in.  Right?  They bid in capacity.

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And the rules with regards to bidding are roughly commensurate or equivalent for both?

MR. ANDERSON:  For capacity.

MR. ZACHER:  And both generators and loads will receive availability payments?

MR. ANDERSON:  They will.

MR. ZACHER:  And the rules with regards to settlement are equivalent.  You haven't identified any deficiencies or any differences in that respect?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am going to actually take you to the market rules, if we want to go there.  Do you mind?  To answer your question?

MR. ZACHER:  Sure.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I would like to -- it is -- the market rules themselves are shown at AMPCO's notice of appeal, footnote 1, page -- starting at page 6 of 60.  Can we get that put up?  It is actually page 7 of 60, my apologies.  No, sorry, it is the actual notice of appeal, so the initial document that was filed by AMPCO to start this application.  And it has a number of attachments at the back of it by footnote number.  One of them is footnote 1, page 7 of 60.

MR. MONDROW:  That's the correct tab.  And if you look at the top of the page, each page has a header on it with a page number.  So you see that is page 1 of 60, so six pages forward should be page 7 of 60.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  That's it.

So page 7 defines a number of new definitions, definitions that had not previously existed.  And just at the very bottom of the screen right now -- thank you for that -- you will see -- yes, that's good -- "capacity auction eligible generation resource".  That is a new definition.  And CAEGR is now allowed to participate.

And if we scroll back up again, it is now allowed to participate in the capacity auction, which you will see in the middle of the page means a transitional capacity auction or a demand response auction.  It was previously just a demand response auction.  Now it is both.

Those changes in definition introduced a new type of participant into what was the demand response auction, but is now the capacity auction, or the TCA.  That new participant has a new and different revenue structure than all of the previous DRA participants.

These two participant types now share the TCA, which had been exclusively, I think as you have said, the demand response auction, which had only one type of participant.

So if we can go down further to Chapter 7, section 19.1 -- sorry, I will try to find that and tell you what page it is.  Page 18 of 21.  I am not sure what footnote it was.

MR. MONDROW:  So that would be I think still footnote 1 --


MR. ANDREW:  It should be 1, I think.

MR. MONDROW:  Page 29 of 40 at the top of the page.  Is this what you are referring to, Mr. Anderson?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am trying to get to Chapter 7, section 19.1, which combines all of the above and sets out the generators now qualify for the amended auction.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, bear with me.  I gave you the wrong -- a different reference.  Ms. van Soelen I think may have found it.  Try footnote 1 still.  Page 44 of 60.
Try footnote 1 still, page 44 of 60.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Mondrow, our copies -- the top of the page was cut off, so we don't have the page numbers.  If you can give us the page number at the bottom of the page as well, that will help us to navigate.

MR. MONDROW:  I will certainly do that.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Anderson, what section are you trying to refer to?  There should be a section number, and then I can get a page number.

MR. ANDERSON:  It was supposed to be section 19.1, according to my notes.

MR. MONDROW:  19.1.  Okay, I have it.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Mondrow --


MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry.  The page number at the bottom is 18 of 21.  At the top, it is 29 of 60 in footnote 1.  My apologies.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that the one that starts with 19.1, purpose?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.  That's it, thank you.  My apologies for that.  I didn't mean to torture you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. ANDERSON:  The combination of the new definitions for capacity auction, the new definitions that set out the CAEGR generation definition, and this section 19.1, which permits in 19.1.2.3 generators to now participate, is sufficient to change the landscape from a DRA that was exclusive to loads to a CA that now includes a second class of participant, who has a very different payment structure than the existing loads that were in the DRA.

So from my perspective, the amendments do in fact have a discriminatory impact in the changes that are contemplated within those amendments, and that impact is what AMPCO has objected to.  And the reason it has chosen now to object to it so strongly is that this is the point where the generators have formally been introduced, creating that second class of market participant, who gets a different payment stream than the DR proponents that were in it before.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Well, listen, I don't want to belabour it, but effectively you're saying the TCA rules have fundamentally changed because a new class of participants can now participate in the auction.  Do you agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I agree that a new class of participant is participating, yes.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  It used to just be demand resources.  Now certain generators can participate.

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And the rules, not surprisingly, have created a new definition to recognize the new class of generator participants, yes?

MR. ANDERSON:  Not surprising.

MR. ZACHER:  And you don't object to any of that?  You are fine with having a broadened capacity auction with more participants?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am absolutely fine, as I have said a number of times now, with a broadened auction as long as the rules permit for non-discriminatory treatment of the different classes of participant who take place or who participate in those auctions.

MR. ZACHER:  If you just return to paragraph 14 of the legal brief we were earlier looking at, you say:  "Generation resources have other revenue opportunities in the IESO markets, including payments for energy services provided DR resources do not," right?

MR. ANDERSON:  I see that.

MR. ZACHER:  And generators entitlement to energy payments is a right that they've enjoyed under the market rules since the market was opened in 2002, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And loads not being entitled to energy payments in the IESO markets is equally something that has been included in the rules since the market opened in 2002.  Agreed?

MR. ANDERSON:  I agree with that.

MR. ZACHER:  And there is nothing in the TCA rules that change any of that, or add to any of that.  Agreed?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't agree with you, sir.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, I think you're saying that the impact, Mr. Anderson, of the TCA rules is what you take issue with, not with the content of the TCA rules themselves.

MR. ANDERSON:  The amendment allows generators into what was previously a demand response auction.  Those generators get a different treatment than the demand response proponents.  That is what I disagree with.

MR. ZACHER:  I am not going to belabour it, but the -- you don't object to generators participating in the auction.

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't object.

MR. ZACHER:  And generators' entitlement to energy payments is something that pre-existed the TCA, and the TCA rules have not changed that.

MR. ANDERSON:  I have no objection to fair competition, Mr. Zacher.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Zacher, I wonder if this would be a convenient time to take a morning break?

MR. ZACHER:  Fine, absolutely.

MS. SPOEL:  And we will come back at 11:20.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:21 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Okay.  Mr. Zacher.  Mr. Anderson.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

Mr. Anderson, if you could turn to your affidavit, which is at tab 2 of our compendium, and go to paragraphs 13 and 14.  Could I have that?

And so under the heading -- or just before paragraph 14, "implications of proposed TCA" -- and I take it that this is where you explain what you say are the unfair or unjust implications of the TCA.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And in particular that the implications of the TCA are that they impose a competitive disadvantage on DR resources in the TCA auction.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And just so that I understand, your position is that because DR resources, unlike generators, do not receive energy payments in the real-time energy market, that they are required to factor in the cost of economic activation into their DR auction bids.  Is that it?

MR. ANDERSON:  I wouldn't say "require", Mr. Zacher, and I think I tried to get at that in paragraphs 15 and then again in paragraph 18, where it says it can be problematic to simply omit.

I think the way I framed it between paragraphs 15 and about 19 in the affidavit was, some DR members do in fact include what I call the utilization payment, which is a proxy for an energy payment, and some do not.

And if you look back at our response to Board Staff number 1, there's a very clear indication that each one of those DR proponents considers its own risk profile very carefully.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.

MR. ANDERSON:  So hypothetically you may have one DR proponent who thinks, I might get activated, I've got to put something in there, and you might have another one that thinks chances of my getting activated are pretty slim, so I won't put something in there.  They're two different types of response to that.

MR. ZACHER:  So to be clear -- and thanks for that clarification -- you're saying this isn't a necessity or a requirement.

MR. ANDERSON:  Absolutely not.  It is not a requirement.

MR. ZACHER:  You're posing this as a supposition because, again, as pointed out by Mr. Barz in his questioning, you don't have any information or any evidence that you filed from your members or anybody who's ever participated in a DR auction or who plans to participate in the TCA?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think that might be a bit of a stretch from what I said, Mr. Zacher.  I haven't provided you with any quantified evidence in terms of an analysis, but I have had many conversations with many demand response proponents, all of which are in my membership and some of which are outside the membership, and I have been -- had it confirmed for me that this is a very real issue.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  But these are your members who haven't identified themselves, won't provide evidence, and won't provide you with any cost information that you could use in this proceeding.

MR. ANDERSON:  Allow me to unpack that one at a time.  They haven't identified themselves is incorrect, because I believe the IESO filed a list of who the DR proponents are.  They will not share their cost information.

I would expect that your generators would not want to file cost information either, and I'm sorry, I don't remember what your third point was, but, no, it is nowhere near as nefarious as you are making it out --


MR. ZACHER:  But --


MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, I wasn't quite finished.  It is exactly what I set out in my direct evidence to try to make sure that the Panel understands why they're talking with me instead of talking with a number of demand response proponents.

MR. ZACHER:  But to be fair, Mr. Anderson, your evidence on this point are effectively your views.  There is no expert study or analysis, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Again, Mr. Zacher, I am going to take exception to what you are saying, because I don't agree with you.  I --


MR. ZACHER:  Is there any expert studies or analysis that you filed?

MR. ANDERSON:  I am putting forward views that are informed not only by my members, but I am putting forward views that are completely consistent with FERC order 745, which I think you would agree with me had more analysis than it could possibly deal with.  And in that proceeding four out of five commissioners found that DR resources, assuming they are capable of providing it, should be compensated consistently with generation resources.

There was one dissenting opinion that means four out of five of the commissioners held the position that AMPCO is putting forward.

I think that is a bit of a proxy for the analysis that AMPCO hasn't advanced in terms of quantified evidence.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  And you're familiar with the FERC proceeding?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have familiarity with it.  I wasn't there, but I have some familiarity.

MR. ZACHER:  And it was a proceeding that was initiated by FERC?  Notice of proposed rule-making proceeding, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MR. ZACHER:  It wasn't precipitated by any complaint or filing by any market participants with the commission?  Right?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  It had to do solely with the issue of whether load should be compensated for participation in energy markets?  Right?  That was the issue, whether load should be compensated in energy markets for services that they provide to those markets.  Right?

MR. ANDERSON:  The motivations for the FERC proceeding are irrelevant, sir --


MR. ZACHER:  It had nothing to -- it had nothing to do with capacity markets which had been operating in all of these IESOs for years without payments of energy payments to DR resources in those markets.

MR. ANDERSON:  The findings in the FERC proceeding are completely analogous and relevant to what's playing out in Ontario right now, and the motivations for the initiation of that proceeding are irrelevant.

The simple fact of the matter is unequal compensation for equal services is discriminatory in nature.

MR. ZACHER:  So let me ask you a little bit more, Mr. Anderson, about how you tie that to your allegation of unjust discrimination in the TCA.

You referred to Staff IR number 1, which is reproduced at tab 3 of our compendium.  Okay.  And this is an IR in which Staff asked for additional detail with regards to your argument that activation payments or utilization payments were included in some DR bids.  Right?

And my understanding, looking at this, your answer is that you say DR participants may or may not incorporate such amounts or such costs in their capacity offers?  Correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.  And I think I further said it's dependent on -- and I will direct you to two-thirds of the way down the page, where it says "entity's risk tolerance".

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And --


MR. ANDERSON:  Which not only do they sometimes not include or sometimes do include, but it can change --


MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And --


MR. ANDERSON:  -- depending on their specific circumstances or their perceptions.

MR. ZACHER:  And you said:

"The cost elements associated with curtailment are specific to each individual participant based on a number of business and operational factors and no two are alike.  AMPCO is not in a position to provide an approximate percentage value that each element would account for."

And again, that is because you don't have any cost information from your participants who wouldn't provide it to you?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Mr. Zacher, could you take Mr. Anderson to the passage you are reading to him?

MR. ZACHER:  I'm sorry, page 3 of 5, first paragraph at the top.

MR. ANDERSON:  I do not have the cost profiles of all of my members.

MR. ZACHER:  And you said in response to --


MR. ANDERSON:  Neither does the IESO --


MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And you said in --


MR. ANDERSON:  -- in response to AMPCO Board Staff number 2.

MR. ZACHER:  And you said in response to cross-examination questions by my friends that you have no insight into your members' bidding behaviour?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ZACHER:  And so you are not able to provide, in response to this question, any cost information specific to any person that has ever participated in the DRA or who might participate in the TCA.  However, in your answer to question 3(c) you provide I guess what could be characterized as conceptually your views as to how participants would make determinations as to whether to include such costs in their bids, is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Notwithstanding that I haven't provided specific cost information, I will take you back to what was discussed, I believe in direct evidence or perhaps it was with APPrO's counsel, where we talked about a number of different things conspiring to ensure that this was no longer a level playing field: lower prices, more participants, upward pressure on one class of participant offers and the same capacity requirement as last year.

I don't need to have numbers to know that all four of those things push it in one direction, and one direction only, Mr. Zacher.

I don't have the numbers.  You don't have the numbers.  The IESO doesn't have the numbers.  The only people that have the numbers are the demand response proponents, and they're not sharing.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  So I think you agree.  You're telling me that directionally, this is your view.

MR. ANDERSON:  Absolutely.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And if you look at your answer to 3(c) at the bottom page 4 of 5, you say:  "The circumstances in which a specific resource will incorporate these elements..."


MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, Mr. Zacher, I am not following you right now.  Where are you?  Are you on Staff number 1?

MR. ZACHER:  I apologize.  Staff number 1, 3(c) at the bottom of page 4.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Part C of Board Staff number 1, yes, I have that.

MR. ZACHER:  "The circumstances in which a specific resource will incorporate these elements are driven primarily by the entity's risk tolerance, and its perspective on activation probabilities.  For example, a DR resource that feels it will likely be activated will probably include utilization amounts in its capacity offers.  A resource that feels the probability of activation is very low, may not."

That is your general proposition.

MR. ANDERSON:  That's what I said in this interrogatory response, and I stand behind it, sir.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  So let me ask you about probability as being an important factor.  And by probability, you're talking about the probability that a DR resource that clears a capacity auction will be activated in the real time energy market, right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. ZACHER:  Is that yes?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And you will appreciate that the evidence in this proceeding from the IESO, the MSP, and Navigant is all consistent in saying there is no material risk of activation, because DR resources never get activated and likely won't.

MR. ANDERSON:  I can't remember who I had the exchange with.  It might have been with KCPL.

If you were a demand response resource who had a capacity offer and a corresponding energy offer, and you knew you were making widgets and the only way you could keep making those widgets and making money was that if you didn't come down in load, where would you put your energy offer?  Would you put it in the basement, or would you put it on the top floor?

They get paid absolutely zero, plus they incur all of the costs that we have set out in Board Staff number 1.  Why would they reduce their number to something that is going to ensure activation?  They do leave it high for that reason.

MR. ZACHER:  Was the answer to my question yes?

MR. ANDERSON:  What was your question again, because I was...


MR. ZACHER:  Whether the evidence from the IESO, the MSP, and Navigant is all consistent in saying there is no risk of activation, because DR resources have historically rarely if ever been activated and there's no suggestion that will change in the future.

MR. ANDERSON:  I think, given your interest in quantified evidence, I would reframe that to historically, there have been very few activations.  And I would absolutely agree with that.

What happens tomorrow or next year?  You don't know that and neither do I.

MR. ZACHER:  The IESO's evidence says, and it is at paragraphs 36 and 38, this is at tab 13 of our compendium - I don't think it is necessary to go to it -- that HDR resources have been activated on a single occasion since the introduction of the DRA in 2015.  And the dispatchable load has been economically activated less than one percent of the time.

I take it you don't disagree with that data?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have agreed with that more than once this morning.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  And the MSP has made the same comment in multiple reports?

MR. ANDERSON:  Can you take me to that and show me before I have to agree to it?

MR. ZACHER:  I will take you to it in a moment.  Let me park that for a moment.  The reason, Mr. Anderson, and I don't think there is any issue with this, the reason that DR resources are not activated is because they bid at extremely high levels into the energy market, right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, they do.

MR. ZACHER:  And the IESO's evidence, again at paragraphs 36 to 38, is that since the launch of the DRA in late 2015, dispatchable loads have bid in at average prices of $1,500 a megawatt hour.  HDR resources have bid in at averages of approximately $1,700 a megawatt hours, and the average Ontario energy price during that time was $25.

Do you agree with all of that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do.  And historically, if I got paid zero to be activated, I would leave my energy offer very high.  If I actually was going to get paid for it, I may reconsider that.

MR. ZACHER:  I will come back to that.  If I can take you to tab 6 of our compendium, which is the MSP's May 2017 report, and this is a report where the MSP did a fairly deep dive into the issue of activation, starting at page 98.

But I will actually ask you to flip over to page 100.  And under the heading "prospect of being activated", the MSP says: "Given the activation criteria described above, the likelihood of an activation is remote."

And the MSP then goes on in the next paragraph to explain that DR resources have to offer-in at prices between $100 and $2,000.  You agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  And that since the start of the first commitment period, 82 percent of all DR capacity has been bid-in at the maximum allowable price, which is $1,999.  You don't disagree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't disagree with that, Mr. Zacher.

MR. ZACHER:  And in fact - and this is the last sentence on that page -- bids at any price over $220 a megawatt hour would not have been activated since the launch of the DRA in 2016.  Agree?

MR. ANDERSON:  I agree with that, Mr. Zacher.

MR. ZACHER:  And over on to the next page, the MSP decides to look more carefully and determine whether not only in times of relative surplus, but in times when Ontario's energy supply demand conditions are more tight, whether the same results would be obtained.

And the MSP determines that even going back to 2005 and 2006, when conditions were extremely height, compounded by polar vortex weather, that no bid since 2005 above $1,000 a megawatt hour would have been activated.  Agreed?

MR. ANDERSON:  Mr. Zacher, we've talked a number of times about how historically there have been low activations and about historically, there's been high energy offers.

I have agreed with you many of those -- all of those times, in fact.

What I would like to make sure we get on the record here is the discussion of what it is that we're advocating in terms of a future approach.  The implementation of Ontario net benefits test would ensure two things.  Number one, that the entity had the capability to provide the resource that it was offering in, and number two, the amount of good or benefit associated with the rest of the market would have to outweigh the amount that's paid to the DR resource.  Otherwise, the DR resource does not get paid.

That is where we should be focussing some attention and I will add, in a situation, Mr. Zacher, where there either are very few activations or very high energy offers, no energy payments will be made.

So your point about the historical is fine.  Your speculation about the future is just that, speculation.  But the fact of the matter is if they aren't activated, they're not getting paid.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay, to be clear, the IESO says in its evidence that it sees no material -- no risk of any material change in activations going forward.

MR. ANDERSON:  Then there is no risk of material payments being made, regardless of whether there's energy payments or not.

MR. ZACHER:  You agree with me that is what the IESO said in their evidence?

MR. ANDERSON:  I agree with you that is what the IESO said in their evidence.

MR. ANDERSON:  I agree with you that is what the IESO said in their evidence.

MR. ZACHER:  And if you look at the MSP report at the bottom of page 101, the same report we're referring to, the MSP says much the same.  It says:  "Even under the most aggressive of demand projections peak demand is not expected to return to record 2005 and 2006 levels until 2029."

Do you disagree with the MSP?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would expect that is absolutely consistent with when this report would have been put out.  Since then there has probably been other reports that have talked about electrification programs in Ontario that may render that out-of-date.  But I can see the words on the page, Mr. Zacher.

MR. ZACHER:  Your argument in this case is that the implications of the TCA rules are unjust because DR participants in TCA auctions will or may need to include activation costs in their DR bids.  That is your position?

MR. ANDERSON:  In paragraphs 15 through 19 of my affidavit it sets that out --


MR. ZACHER:  That is the -- that is the gist of your argument on unjust discrimination?

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, excuse me, I think Mr. Zacher is now getting into argument with the witness as opposed to eliciting evidence, and I object to that.

MR. ZACHER:  Just to be clear, the reason that you allege unjustness or unfairness is because you say DR participants, in contrast to generators, may need to include the cost of activation in their DR auction bids or their TCA auction bids, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  I actually say that and something else.

In a situation where a DR proponent includes a certain amount in his capacity offer, he is less likely to clear that auction.  So he will be out in the cold.

If he doesn't include anything but gets activated, all of the costs that are set out in AMPCO's response to Board Staff 1 will be incurred with zero compensation.

So it really is a no-win situation.  It is one of two options.

MR. ZACHER:  I understand.  It is just two sides of the same coin.  Right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Both of which are set out in paragraph 19 of my affidavit --


MR. ZACHER:  And you agree with me, Mr. Anderson, that the risk of activation in the energy market and the costs associated with it are entirely within the control of DR participants, based on how they bid into the energy market?

MR. ANDERSON:  Absolutely not.  I don't agree with that at all.  That is why --


MR. ZACHER:  The MSP says that going back to 2005 and 2006 if you bid over a thousand dollars, not one time, not one single interval would you have been activated.

MR. ANDERSON:  Mr. Zacher --


MR. ZACHER:  Do you disagree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  Mr. Zacher, if you want to use history to predict the future that's fine.  If you want to drive down the 401 while looking in your rearview mirror that is equally fine, but I am not going to agree with you that it is impossible for prices to hit 1999 next week, next month, or next year.  I don't know it, and neither do you.

MR. ZACHER:  I'm not suggesting it is impossible either.  What I'm suggesting is --


MR. ANDERSON:  You said, will you agree with me that it will never happen.

MR. ZACHER:  What I am suggesting is that there is no material risk of that.  Do you have any evidence to rebut what the MSP, the IESO, and Navigant have all said?

MR. ANDERSON:  I have already agreed that utilization -- or, sorry, that activation numbers have been low and that energy offers have been high.

MR. ZACHER:  And do you agree with me that DR offers into the energy market since its inception have averaged between $1,500 a megawatt hour and $1,700 a megawatt hour?

MR. ANDERSON:  And if I am not getting paid for something I am providing, I wouldn't be dropping my offer either.

MR. ZACHER:  And do you agree with me that if DR participants continue to do that, they will eliminate or render negligible any risk of being activated?

MR. ANDERSON:  If they continue to do that, it will be a low probability that they will be activated.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

MR. ANDERSON:  It's not zero.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.  Just one moment.

Those are all of my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.

Ms. Djurdjevic, is it your turn now?


Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I believe it is, from looking at the schedule, unless someone tells me otherwise.

Good morning, Mr. Anderson.

MR. ANDERSON:  Good morning.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if we understand correctly, the basic proposition behind AMPCO's application is the expectation that DR resources will be treated comparatively or commensurately in the energy -- in terms of getting energy market revenues, simply, you know, generation gets paid when they're dispatched, so DR should get paid when it is dispatched as well.  Do I have that correct, basically?

MR. ANDERSON:  Essentially what we're saying is we want a level playing field, and with the introduction of a second class of market participant, that playing field is no longer level.

I would even go as far as to say it wasn't as bright an issue before this change to the market rules, for the following reason.  All the participants were DR providers.  So you could say because none of them gets an energy payment they are all equally disadvantaged.  It is not discriminatory.  It may not be exactly what they wanted, but it's not discriminatory, but introduce a new class that does have a different revenue stream and all of a sudden you do --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But it's the fact that this other class has another revenue stream that is problematic from AMPCO's perspective; is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  That results in the discriminatory impact, correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So you would agree that -- well, I think functionally everybody can agree that both demand and supply serve a load balancing function in organized wholesale markets.  Can we agree on that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would agree with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And would you agree that when generation is dispatched to enable supply and demand to be balanced, what generation is doing is it's selling its energy into the market, correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  Correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  On the other hand, when demand response is dispatched to enable supply and demand to be balanced, it is not selling energy, like generators.  Is that right?

MR. ANDERSON:  No, it is not generating energy; that's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It is not selling, DR is not selling -- it's not selling its product into the market.

MR. ANDERSON:  No.  It's a cessation of consumption.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Correct.  So would you agree that the cessation of consumption or not buying energy is different from selling energy into the market?  Would you agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I would speculate that there are differences, but I would say that for all intents and purposes a megawatt and a megawatt are very similar within this context.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I am going to leave that one aside for the economists to fight over.  My question is much more basic.  It is in terms of the -- a generator who is selling the energy into the market, they own the product.  So when your demand responder load -- say they're producing widgets.  They're not selling widgets into the market.

So just that very basic difference that the demand responder has not incurred the cost of making the widget which it is now selling into the market, puts that at contrast with the generator, who's got at least the fuel cost to generate the energy to put into the market.  Would you agree that that is just the basic difference -- selling something is different from not buying something?

MR. ANDERSON:  Your analogy is starting to confuse me a little bit counsel, unfortunately.  Could you frame it a slightly different way for me and we can get past this, I think.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, any manufacturer of a product, for example -- that is why I used the widget example -- a generator is manufacturing a product.  It is creating energy that it is selling into the market.  We agree on that, right?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, the product that your members, the DR respondents, are providing to the market for the balancing supply and demand is not something that it owns.  It is just refraining from consuming.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I will agree with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Given this very basic difference when generation is dispatched contrasted with when DR is dispatched, on what basis -- like, do you still -- accepting that difference, do you still believe that DR respondents are entitled to comparable or equivalent compensation when they're dispatched?

MR. ANDERSON:  I absolutely do.  I absolutely do because from a reliability perspective, what they are doing is consistent with what the generator is doing for the system -- for the overall system need.

They have the capability to reduce their load, which reduces the entire system load, in much the same way as injecting would increase the amount of energy in the system, and they're achieving the same reliability outcome.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We have already agreed that functionally, they serve -- they both serve a balancing function to balance supply and demand.

But I am just talking like really much more basic level is that the costs -- what the generator is doing is it is producing something and selling it into the market.

The demand responder, you know, is not.  They're just not incurring a cost, in terms of refraining from consuming.

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  They haven't gone and bought fuel and made widgets, and now they are selling them into the market.  Do we agree on that difference?

MR. ANDERSON:  There are real costs associated with curtailing demand.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  You have covered those with other counsel, and so I am not going to mow over that lawn again.

I am going to talk about part of your application.  If we can get this on the screen, it's page 9, paragraph 33.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, is this the appeal document?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This is AMPCO's -- the application, the original application, yes.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Page 9, paragraph 33, and it's the bottom of page 33 and goes over to the next page, and it is actually on the top of page -- sorry, the top of Page 9.

You state that the IESO recently recognized this sort of issue in respect of DR compensation for out-of-market activations.

And what you are talking about there is, you know, the issue of not paying compensation to hourly DR resources when they're activated out-of-market, so for testing or emergency.  Is that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And also still in the application at footnote 14, there's a presentation, an IESO presentation.  This would be page 297, if we can bring that up.

So this is the IESO presentation where it's called "cost recovery for out-of-market activations or of hourly DR resources".

And so you have raised this in your application, referring to this, and it was also in your reply submission on the motion and what you have said is that, you know, this is exactly the same, compensating DR resources for out-of-market activations is the same as if it were to happen in-market.  Do I have that correct?

MR. ANDERSON:  This is one of a number of examples that support that.

There is footnote 14, page 7 of 16 of ours, says paying HDR for out-of-market payments "is appropriate and consistent with energy market and existing design treatment of other resources."


And it goes on further to request feedback on how to do just that, including using CBDR type activation payments.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sir, what are you referring to?
You have now lost me.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry.  I am referring to the same presentation, a subsequent slide.  I think it is slide 8.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  What is the title of the heading on it?  Okay, I don't want to take up too much time on this, but the point is the IESO is currently considering paying for out-of-market activations.

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, slide 42, my apologies.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  What AMPCO is saying is you know what, since you acknowledge there are costs for out-of-market activations and you think some kind of compensation is appropriate, you should be doing that for in-market activations.  Do I understand AMPCO's position on that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think directionally the IESO has indicated, number one, it's been discussing --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  First, do we understand AMPCO's position?  You have said that.  You have argued it quite clearly and pointedly in your reply submission that these are exactly the same, in-market and out-of- market activations.

MR. ANDERSON:  I guess I just...


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is your position?

MR. ANDERSON:  I just want to add to that, counsel, if I can, that the IESO has stated it has considered this now for years and continues to do so with the implementation of a new stakeholder consultation in October.

That indicates that it is a live issue.  This indicates that it is a live issue.  It has indicated that it considers this to be deserving of merit and they're actually going ahead and doing it in the out of market part of it.  So yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just the fact that they are considering this rule, new rule for out-of-market activations, this is going forward it appears.

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But with respect to the activations in-market, the study has not even commenced.  The consultation has been launched, but the study is not done.  There is no decision yet by the IESO that there should be payments for activations in-market just as they think there should be payments for out-of-market.  That is not - they're not exactly at the same stage, in terms of the IESO's request.

MR. ANDERSON:  Absolutely, that's correct, they're not at the same stage.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  But AMPCO's position, if I've understood, you know, is that they should be looked at the same since IESO is willing to -- has acknowledged and, you know, it was on that slide, if we can go back up to 297 -- okay.

The bottom bullet point says:  "Observed bid prices and stakeholder feedback indicate that activation costs can be significant for HDR resources."


So there is that acknowledgement on the IESO's part that for out-of-market activations, there's these costs.

And we understand AMPCO's position is that they are costs as well in the end market activations.  But I would like to explore just a little bit the differences between in-market and out-of-market activations.

So would you agree that out-of-market activations, as I understand, are emergency testing -- well testing emergencies, as far as I understand.

And so basically it is the IESO forcing a curtailment.  So the demand response has no choice; it is an IESO requirement and they will be curtailed or activated.

And if you look at the right side of that chart, the blue one, it says in the second bullet point:  "HDR will be activated even if the electricity price is lower than their bid price."


And that's different in the in-market activations. It is only if the price matches the bid.

You agree that -- see that as part of the difference, for starters?

MR. ANDERSON:  I agree with you; that is different.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So when there is a forced curtailment, this out-of-market activation, would you also agree, especially because the HDR has no choice over it, there is a harm.

And the IESO's rule, or contemplated rule on this sees that there is this harm and that the DR resource should be sort of made whole or put back in its original position for the harm that was caused by the IESO's requirement to curtail.  Would you agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I understand there is a distinction between the two, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So all I am trying to get to is that this is -- because the point was very strongly made that these are exactly the same type of situations, and I would suggest to you that they're not exactly the same.  Would you agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think it's the same concept.  I think there are differences which you have highlighted, and I agree with you.  But conceptually, provision of a service requires payment whether it is in-market or out-of-market.

But there are distinctions, and I agree with the distinctions that you have set out.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Now in addition to those distinctions, when there is an activation, a resource basically will only be curtailed when there is a benefit to them.

So they will not stop consuming unless it reaches a price point where it would cost them to -- they're not willing to pay the cost to consume.

So there is a benefit in a voiding the energy cost in in-market activation.  Do you agree with that?

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry, can you run that one past me again?  I am not sure what you said.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, in the context of an in-market activation, a demand resource will only be willing to be curtailed when there is a benefit to doing so, i.e. the cost of electricity is now $2,000 and does not want to incur that cost.  Like, it is an avoided cost.  They're avoiding the cost of energy.  That --


MR. ANDERSON:  I can agree that they're looking for benefit in terms of their curtailment, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, if they are -- you have this benefit of an avoided energy cost and in addition to that an HDR resource received an energy payment for activation, which is the basis of the application, would you agree that there at least appears to be a double benefit or that the resource is even better off financially?

MR. ANDERSON:  No, I would not.  And I think the error in your logic link was that if they get activated at 1999 that that covers their costs.  And I can guarantee you that at times it absolutely will not cover their costs.

The value of the lost load is set out in response to Board Staff 1, but all of the additional costs that get incurred as a result of that activation can easily put it well north of 1999.

So where you're saying they're covered off by 1999 and then they get this gravy on top of that, I wouldn't agree with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Those are all of my questions, thank you, Mr. Anderson.

MR. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  I don't have a compendium, but the documents that I will refer to are actually in the IESO compendium.  So if maybe we could use that --


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- as a guide.  I just have a few questions for issues that haven't been dealt with.

Mr. Anderson, I want to just understand AMPCO'S position better.  If I can ask you to turn to SEC, which is -- your response to SEC, which is located at tab 3, behind the blue page.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein, can you give us a document reference again so we can put it on the screen.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, this is AMPCO's response to SEC 3.  It's behind tab 3 of the IESO cross-examination compendium.  Behind the blue page in tab 3.

MR. ANDERSON:  I have that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now...

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Rubenstein, I think -- I know they're having trouble putting it up on the screen.  But I think most -- do you -- have you located it, Mr. Anderson?

MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, I have.

MS. SPOEL:  And we have got it, and I think most parties do, so you can proceed even though -- the screen is nice to have, not need to have.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So Mr. Anderson, we had asked you in this interrogatory if AMPCO's views, including any analysis it had undertaken regarding the impact on costs that ultimately would be borne by Ontario ratepayers providing energy payments to demand response providers.  Do you see that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in the response say that you haven't done the analysis, but the next paragraph:

"AMPCO's view, which includes consideration of perspectives of majority of AMPCO's members who are not DR resource providers and whom the lowest possible electricity costs are of paramount importance, the interests of Ontario consumers would be fully and appropriately protected by the development of the application of an Ontario-specific net benefits test as required by FERC as a pre-condition to energy payments for DR resources."

Do you see that?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So do I understand that in AMPCO's view, if the IESO is to provide energy payments to demand response providers, as a pre-condition there must be a net benefits test that is put in place and ultimately I guess would be passed in any given situation before an energy payment is made?

MR. ANDERSON:  That's absolutely correct, and I believe we say that in AMPCO's response to Board Staff number 2.  In fact, in the very, very last line of that interrogatory response it says:   "If the net benefits test is not passed, no energy payment is made."

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So conceptually, as I understand it, at a high level the intent of the net benefits test would ensure that in any given situation that a DR resource would only receive an energy payment if it's economically activated, if its activation in the payment of that energy payment would reduce the overall cost to customers as compared to if it wasn't activated.  Is that your understanding, or can you help me understand what your view at a high level of what the net benefit test is attempting to do?

MR. ANDERSON:  Let me try to paraphrase it slightly differently, counsel.

My understanding is that the net benefit associated with activating the demand response resource is a direct result of reducing the provincial load.

Let's say the demand response resource is 100 megawatts, so it takes you from 25,000 megawatts down to 24,900.  That reduction in overall load may drop you down through some price laminations of what the energy has built up to.  So your market price will drop consistent with that drop in load.

Multiply that delta through the entire rest of the 25,000 megawatts, you're going to incur a benefit, which is incurred for all consumers.  Your market price is now lower.

So unless that amount is greater than the amount you pay the DR resource, you don't pay the DR resource.  That's my paraphrasing of it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I take it in your view the fact that you think there should be a pre-condition that there be a net benefits test, that there would be situations where DR resources who receive energy payments may actually increase costs to customers?

MR. ANDERSON:  There would be situations where they -- where, sorry, they increased costs?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would increase costs.  Thus you believe there should be a net benefits test to ensure that in those situations energy -- there is no payment of energy payments through a DR resource.

MR. ANDERSON:  The amount of benefit that accrues to the market must exceed the amount of payment to the DR resource or there is no payment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But as I understand, the reason you believe that there should be a net benefit test and there should be a condition on paying energy payments is that there are going to be situations where, without the net benefits test, a payment of energy payments to DR resources would actually increase costs to consumers.

MR. ANDERSON:  Okay, my apologies.  I didn't understand that last clarification, but, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand the -- in your application, because a transitional capacity auction market rules amendments don't include provisions of compensation of energy payments to DR resources, it is unjustly discriminatory.

MR. ANDERSON:  The market rules as currently crafted result in discriminatory impacts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Because there is no -- there's not the possibility of energy payments to DR resources who are activated?

MR. ANDERSON:  Because of the difference in treatment between the two classes of participants, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And your application as you talked about in your direct is you're seeking to revoke -- you're asking the Board to revoke the amendments and send it back to the IESO for further consideration?

MR. ANDERSON:  We are seeking the relief as specifically contemplated in section 33 of the Act, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Would the market rules be unjustly discriminatory regardless of the lack of an inclusion of a net benefit test?

MR. ANDERSON:  I believe they would still be discriminatory.  Mr. Rubenstein, the reason why I can so adamantly support the notion of energy payments is because of the net benefits test.

In the absence of a net benefits test, I would be here advocating only for DR resources, and I don't do that.

My association represents DR resources and people who don't provide DR, and those people still pay bills.  With the inclusion of the net benefits test I can sit up here and say, I think this is a really good thing for the market because it will overall reduce costs.  That is why I can be here and push hard, because I am representing 100 percent of my members instead of a smaller percentage who provide DR.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Imagine that you are successful in this application, the Board revokes the amendments and sends it back to the IESO for further consideration.

Ultimately in their further consideration they decide, based on what they have heard in this application, that they believe that providing energy payments to DR resources is appropriate.  But they are unable to, for reasons of complexity or technical ability, are unable to create a net benefits test.

Would those amendments be unjustly discriminatory?

MR. ANDERSON:  You're in a hypothetical area I really haven't considered.  Let me just be sure that I am hearing what I think you're saying.

There would be new rules that would be crafted.  Those rules would contemplate similar treatment between the two.  But it was impossible to come up with a net benefits test because of the complexities of the Ontario market?  Is that...


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, yes.

MR. ANDERSON:  I think that would deal with the discriminatory piece.

I would be less comfortable than what we're currently considering because of the reasons I just set out.  I want to represent all of my members and, in fact, any load customers in the province to ensure that what we are doing here doesn't result in increased prices.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.
Questions by the Board:

DR. ELSAYED:  I just have a couple of questions.  Can you hear me?

MR. ANDERSON:  I'm sorry, I can't.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is this better?

MR. ANDERSON:  That is better, thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Just to clarify, I think it was something you said at the direct start of the hearing.

The objective of your application is to -- for the OEB to send these amendments back to the IESO for reconsideration.  Is that basically what you are...


MR. ANDERSON:  Yes, that was part of my direct, and there has been some question -- or we perceived there was some questions amongst the intervenor community what exactly it was that we were seeking in this application.

The relief sought is specifically as contemplated in section 33 of the Electricity Act.

We are not seeking energy payments as a ruling from this panel.  We are seeking that you issue an order that responds to a section 33 application, which would either approve the market rules, or revoke them back and remand them for further consideration.

DR. ELSAYED:  So anything that the IESO does in that scenario is beyond the scope of this application?

MR. ANDERSON:  Sorry?  Down --


DR. ELSAYED:  If we revoke the amendments, if we do and send it to the IESO, anything that happens beyond that is beyond the scope of this application?

MR. ANDERSON:  I think I am in agreement.  I will tell you what I am thinking.  Downstream of this -- this application has a point in time decision.  That decision will include reasons, as it always does, and that will provide -- I would expect would provide the IESO with what your area of discomfort was.

So my expectation, hypothetically, if you did remand those rules, it would come with reasons that the IESO would then say, okay, these are the areas that the Board has discomfort with.  We will address that, redo the amendments, and put them through the same process that the original amendments have already gone through.

And assuming that they had addressed what the issue was, then those amendments would be fully approved.  That is my expectation.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  There has been a lot of discussion also about the past and the future, in terms of the economic utilization of DR resources.  And you have pointed out a number of times that it's difficult to predict.

But if you were able to, if you had a crystal ball and you were able to, can you tell me under what circumstances -- or what would your thoughts be about scenarios that may be beneficial to the DR resources going forward?  Or is it just a question of principle that you are seeking in this case, in terms of equal treatment?

MR. ANDERSON:  I don't think it is exclusively a question of principle.

What I see happening right now -- and I have mentioned to a couple of the friends that I have been speaking with -- in a situation where the demand response proponent is going to get nothing if they're activated, it doesn't surprise me that those same demand response proponents don't lower their energy offers, because they're going to incur additional costs and get paid nothing, and not make their production.

In a situation where there is now energy payments in a hypothetical world, they're going to review that from a more economic perspective and say instead of 1,999, maybe it is $500.  Is it going to be $30?  No, it's never going to be $30; I don't believe it will be that level.

Could it be significantly lower than 1,999?  I believe it could be, depending on what their specific risk tolerance is and their specific cost structure, and what they're doing at the time, and what the different -- I will say widgets, because if depends if you're talking steel, or pulp and paper, or whatever, what that production run is going to.  Maybe there is a lull in their production that now they can look at it a little bit differently.

All of these things are set out in response to Board Staff 1, and they're all very much entity specific and time specific.

Could there be situations where they do drop them down so that they're materially lower than they are right now?  Yes, there could be.  And I think that is the way the payment of -- sorry, the provision of energy payments would encourage that as opposed to now, when I'm not getting paid anything and I am going to incur a huge cost, I am not going to drop my offer.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  These are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  I have no questions, Mr. Anderson.  Thank you.

Mr. Mondrow, do you have anything for redirect?

MR. MONDROW:  I do, briefly Madam Chair, thank you.

Re-examination by Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Anderson, when Mr. Zacher was talking to you in what struck me as a somewhat heated exchange, and he was talking about the first TCA and suggested that you agreed that there would be more competition and that prices would be lower as a result.  Do you recall that discussion?

MR. ANDERSON:  I do.

MR. MONDROW:  Did you agree to both of those propositions?

MR. ANDERSON:  There were so many times that I agreed with Mr. Zacher today.

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  You would think you would remember the one time you didn't.  Not that I want to suggest your answer.

MR. ANDERSON:  I would say that the -- we've already been on the record saying that I believe the level of competition is not going to increase as a result of the mechanisms that we have talked about.

Whereas, the introduction of generators, because they get the secondary revenue stream that DR proponents do not, will tend to push them out of their own auction.

So the increase of competition because of generators will be more than offset by the exclusion of DR proponents who get pushed out, for the reasons that we talked about at length.

I'm sorry I don't remember the second piece of your question, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  I just asked whether you intended with both of...


MR. ANDERSON:  I guess I would have to say no.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  One more question.  When you were speaking with Board Staff counsel, she took you to this presentation to the Demand Response Working Group.  It's entitled "Demand Response Working Group meeting materials", and it's dated June 19th, 2019.

And I believe the reference was footnote 14 of the Notice of Appeal, which is AMPCO's application.  And she took you to slide 38 and we had that box.

And you were about to go to slide 40 and I just wanted to give you an opportunity, if you wanted to make a point, to finish that statement or that response.  If not, fine.  But it struck me that you were starting to say something.

MR. ANDERSON:  I was starting to say something and in the exchange it got lost.  Thank you for that.  It is really the sub-bullet in the middle that talks about the implications for ICA and TCA participation.  Since the DR auction was for DR only, all HDR resources were impacted equally.

I think that completely supports something, a contention I made partway through the morning -- and quite frankly, I can't remember with whom it was I was having the discussion at the time.

But I did say why this application is being brought today is the introduction of the new customer class into this auction mechanism.

Before that time, I think I used the words it was equally unfair for all DR participants because none of them got any energy payments.  And I think that is exactly what this is saying on this slide.

So there is a recognition of that, and I think that is the stepping-off point for understanding that the inclusion of a new class of participant sets that aside.

And that is why this application has been brought at this point in time.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Anderson.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  We will take our lunch break now and we will resume at 1:30 with the London Economics witnesses.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:21 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good afternoon.  Please be seated.

Are there any preliminary matters before we start this afternoon?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just one, Madam Chair.  The IESO compendium, we all thought we marked it as an exhibit, but we hadn't, at least not on the record.  And I will just confirm it is K1.6.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And while I am at it, there is also a Staff compendium for my examination, and that will be K1.7, and you have bound copies on the dais for each member.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  STAFF COMPENDIUM FOR AMPCO PANEL 1.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel and participants.  By way of introduction I am going to be seeking to have Messrs. Goulding and Hariri qualified as experts in combination regulatory economics, electricity market design, including capacity and demand response markets, the witness, Mr. Goulding, with respect to other jurisdictions.

So first of all, I would like to have -- the panel would need to be affirmed first before I can do anything.  Sorry.
ASSOCIATION OF MAJOR POWER CONSUMERS OF ONTARIO - PANEL 2
A.J. Goulding,
Adam Hariri;  Affirmed.

MS. FRANK:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So Mr. Goulding and Mr. Hariri, first I would like to confirm that OEI was retained by OEB Staff to assist Staff in this proceeding and you provided a report that is at tab 3 of Staff's compendium, as well as responding to interrogatories which are at tab 4 of Staff's compendium.

I would first like to just have you acknowledge the expert -- the OEB's expert's duty, which is the Form A that was filed.  It's at tab 1 of the compendium.  And paragraph 3 of the acknowledgment states that you as a witness acknowledge that it is your duty to provide evidence in relation to this proceeding, as follows:
"A, to provide opinion evidence that is fair, objective, and non-partisan.  B, to provide opinion evidence that is related only to matters that are within my area of expertise.  And C, to provide such additional assistance as the Board may reasonably require, to determine a matter in issue."

And you can reconfirm that for me, please.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  We confirm that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.

So just for reference, the CVs of Mr. Goulding and Mr. Hariri are in -- at tab 2 of the compendium.  If we could get that on the screen.  And starting with Mr. Goulding's CV at page 7 -- it goes on for some ways, but I will just have you briefly explain, Mr. Goulding, your educational background and your professional background.

MR. GOULDING:  Certainly.  I have an undergraduate degree in economics and a Master's degree in international business.  My undergraduate degree is from Earlham College in Richmond, Indiana, and my graduate degree is from Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs.

I have been involved with electricity markets since the beginning of my career.  I started my career working for ICF Resources originally in their natural gas practice in Fairfax, Virginia.  I then spent two years ultimately working with the United States Agency for International Development in New Delhi, India, focusing on, among other things, gas co-generation.

Following that, I was a summer associate with what was then called London Economics Inc.  I then was an analyst with Citizens Power, which was a top-ten U.S. power marketer.  And subsequent to that I rejoined London Economics, then called "Inc.", and I have been with London Economics in various forms since -- full-time since January 1st, 1998.

During that period I have focused on economic and financial advice to energy and infrastructure industries, with a particular focus on power, and that has involved advice to participants across the electricity sector value chain, both in Ontario and overseas.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  And according to your CV you have also been adjunct professor at Columbia University since 2003.  What was the focus of the courses that you teach?

MR. GOULDING:  So I teach a course in electricity markets.  In addition, I oversee one to two graduate workshops per year.  These normally relate to some aspect of the electric power sector, ranging from behind-the-meter storage to permitting of hydro resources to looking at the role of DERs, a wide range of issues.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thanks.  And from page 20 onwards in your CV there is a pretty lengthy list of publications you have authored and co-authored.  Are there any that you want to highlight as relevant to the topics of your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. GOULDING:  Perhaps the most relevant is some work that I have done conceptually around the design of capacity mechanisms.  We prefer to use the word "mechanism to market", but sometimes we will use the word "market".

That work was done for the C.D. Howe Institute, so I think that is probably the most relevant to the current proceeding.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And have you previously given testimony before the OEB or other regulatory agencies?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  I've testified before the OEB, before the Alberta Utilities Commission.  I have also testified before regulators in Nova Scotia and Manitoba.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And you have appeared as an expert witness in those proceedings?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And can you just confirm that you adopt the report that was filed by LEI in this proceeding and the IR responses you provided?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, I adopt the report filed by LEI.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Mr. Hariri, can you please describe your educational and professional background.

MR. HARIRI:  Yes.  So I completed my Master's degree in economics as well as my undergrad degree in economics and political science, both from the University of Waterloo, and I am currently a senior consultant at LEI.  I joined in 2014.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And your CV, which starts at page 32 of tab 2 of the compendium, indicates that you're LEI's primary Ontario market modeller.  Can you describe what that entails?

MR. HARIRI:  So one of the main areas of focus of my work has been on conducting various analytical modelling and forecast engagements focused on energy and capacity markets in jurisdictions such as Ontario, Alberta, and New York.

And on the Ontario side this would involve leading many of the firms' engagements related to energy and capacity outlooks specific to the Ontario market.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So I take it the evidence that you would be providing would be related to the specific analysis that you did in the LEI report and the IRs pertaining to Ontario?

MR. HARIRI:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And can you also confirm that you adopt the report that you've produced with Mr. Goulding?

MR. HARIRI:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So that concludes my examination of the witnesses' qualifications to provide evidence as experts.  So I would like to qualify Mr. Goulding and Mr. Hariri as experts in -- well, Mr. Goulding as an expert in regulatory economics, specifically market design, including capacity and DR markets and including expertise in other jurisdictions, in this particular case the U.S. electricity market, and I would like to qualify Mr. Hariri as an expert on market modelling and capacity -- what he said.  Sorry.  With respect to specifics that he worked on in the Ontario context.

And in the discussion, my colleagues, I don't believe anybody objects or intends to cross-examine the witnesses on their qualifications.

MS. SPOEL:  Could I just confirm that?  Does anyone have any objection to having these two witnesses qualified in the manner described by Ms. Djurdjevic?

Great.  In that case, we will accept them as expert witnesses, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  So, Mr. Goulding, can you describe what OEB Staff asked LEI to provide a report on?

MR. GOULDING:  Certainly.  And I will turn to page 4 of our report, where we provided the scope of work, and let me just read from there.

So LEI's scope of work included the provision of a summary of order 745 and its scope, as well as the net benefits test methodology.

The research was to focus on how DR resources are compensated in US markets, including consideration for energy, capacity, or other kinds of payments.

OEB Staff also asked LEI to identify key contextual differences between the Ontario electricity sector and the US electricity markets subject to FERC order 745.

Other key areas to be described included how load customers participate in the respective electricity markets, how the energy they consume is priced, and how US markets reconcile wholesale market dispatchability with fixed retail rates.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Can you tell us what the key takeaways are from your report?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, and I will refer to pages 5 and 6 of the report.

Now, what we noted was that FERC 745 relates to the compensation of DR resources participating in organized wholesale energy markets.  And furthermore, that 745 requires the payment of a locational margin price, or LMP, for curtailing their load if dispatched.

Now, the reason for 745 was a number of perceived barriers to participation of DR resources, particularly a disconnect between the price that load pays to consume and the wholesale price in any one hour.  Ultimately, I think we should say in any one time period, because sometimes we're talking about periods shorter than one hour.

So the objective of 745 was to try and address this disconnect between what load was paying for supply and the way in which the wholesale energy market valued that supply.

So we then looked at what had happened in various independent system operators and regional transmission operators at the time of and after 745.

And so we focussed specifically on PJM ISO New England and the New York Independent System Operator.  And I won't go through all of figure 1, which looks at the specifics of the various resources, the various programs, and what you will see is that each market has slightly different names for things that are more or less the same thing, but that doesn't mean that the rules are absolutely identical.

Now, what we saw was that when we see what these resources ultimately have as their primary source of compensation, the bulk of compensation came through capacity payments.  Actual dispatch on the energy side for those participating in those programs was quite low.

We found as well -- although it wasn't the focus of our report -- that there were a few other revenue streams like ancillary services, and we saw that activation across the various programs was also low.

And so if we then move to section 5.5, pages 38 and 39, there were a few conclusions that we drew, and these were with regards to some of the similarities and differences between Ontario and the various US markets.

One key difference, of course, is jurisdictional.  In the US, the structure, generally speaking, is that the US Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has jurisdiction over intrastate matters.  And this leads them to have jurisdiction over wholesale energy markets.

States retain jurisdiction for what happens within their borders.  Clearly distribution happens exclusively within their borders, and retail happens within their borders.

And so what we see is a somewhat ambiguous seam between federal and state jurisdiction when it comes to retail, in that the States set the rules for access or lack thereof.  But because those retail customers are ultimately depending on the state's structure supplied by the wholesale market, and because FERC has jurisdiction over the wholesale market, we see -- when it comes to demand response -- a degree of overlap in jurisdiction.

So our conclusions with regards to demand response programs in the three US markets that we reviewed were that DR resources serve primarily by provision of capacity, in terms of total resource participation.

In those circumstances where they have access to both capacity and energy related compensation, capacity revenues still form the bulk of their revenues, and that the actual activation is extremely infrequent.

We then observed some key differences between Ontario and US independent system operators.

So when we look, for example, at the way in which customers buy energy, there is a greater degree of actual customer choice.

We have the concept of a load serving entity, something that's been discussed frequently here in Ontario, but which is not presently applicable.  We have a large portion of industrial and commercial load being served by competitive suppliers, and that gives these customers access to a range of contract designs.

They may be fixed price, they may be market following, but with a floor and a ceiling.  But there are a range ways in which they can hedge without the use of physical assets.

Now presently, demand response as procured through the IESO's activities is a smaller share of capacity and peak load than in other markets, and Ontario is at an earlier stage in developing the various mechanisms used to procure capacity.

Now, what we also see is that effectively, over 90% of generation in the province is under a regulated rate or is fully contracted, which means that the variation in the  Hourly Ontario Electricity Price is not necessarily directly linked to the variation in the revenues of those generators.

What we also see, of course, is that the global adjustment makes up a substantial portion of bills to final consumers.

Now, we also observe that the ICI here in Ontario does provide the opportunity for significant avoided costs for class A customers capable of curtailing their loads at the right time.

We conclude with an observation that when assessing compensation mechanisms for demand response, we need to balance the impact on transparency of the energy price signal against the practical reality that demand response is rarely activated and receives the bulk of its revenue from capacity-like mechanisms.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.

Mr. Goulding, one of the issues in the current proceeding as you come to understand is that the amendments that are the subject of this case that expand the DRA to a capacity auction where generation and demand resources are going to compete, in your investigation of U.S. jurisdictions, are there markets where generation and demand response capacity compete head to head?  And -- in any of the markets you studied, and if there are, can you describe those?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  I will speak generally, because one of the features of capacity mechanisms is that the rules are frequently revised, sometimes minor tweaks from one iteration to the next, sometimes major ones.  And so the role of demand response in specifically the capacity mechanism has continued to change, but generally speaking the demand response is allowed to participate in capacity auctions.  It is held to the same standards as generation, and in some of the capacity mechanism designs those standards have become more stringent.

But the objective is for the capacity mechanisms to be technology-neutral, to focus on the product that's provided rather than the provider, although IESOs are struggling to maintain that principle.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would like to skip forward, as the clock is running down on me, to page 32 of your report on the compendium.  On the screen it is page 66 of the compendium, and the report page numbers did not come through for some reason.

So you discuss at this point the, quote, symbiotic nature of energy and capacity payments.  Can you elaborate on that?

MR. GOULDING:  Certainly.  It is useful to zoom out a bit to think about what any particular market design needs to accomplish.  And at the end of the day the market design needs to provide for sufficient revenues for the total amount of generation, including that that is required to stand by for reliability purposes to be compensated.

Now, we can take this total amount of revenue and slice it in various ways.  We can do it primarily through an energy market.  And so as we know, Alberta historically has been energy only, with some ancillary services.  ERCOT in Texas also energy only, but the three markets that are mentioned in our report have a capacity plus energy design.

Now, in theory, if we think about our bid into the capacity mechanism to be the residual and what's left over after we have recovered as much as we can from the energy market, then we can see that if we have a really low-cost resource that expects to be dispatched a substantial amount of time, they would expect to have a substantial margin in the energy markets and consequently could be expected to discount their bid into the capacity mechanism auction.

Conversely, if we had, for example, an older fossil-fired plant with a high heat rate that expected to be dispatched infrequently, then we would anticipate that that particular plant would seek to recover the bulk of its target revenues through the capacity mechanism.

And so that is what we mean when we say that these payments are symbiotic, and of course in an energy-only market then a substantially higher proportion of revenues need to be recovered in the energy market.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  I would like to now turn to some of your interrogatory responses.  These are found at tab 4 of our compendium, and in particular I'm looking at the interrogatory response to a question from KCLP, 4A.  This appears at page 85 of the compendium.

And the -- summing up, just to sum up in the interests of time, the question you are being asked is whether LEI agrees or disagrees with Dr. Rivard's assessment of net benefits and economic efficiency.  And you stated that, quote:

"LEI's concern is with regards to the fidelity of the price signal and the need for a more nuanced approach to the concept of horizontal equity."

You also state that:

"Dr. Rivard's discussion of horizontal equity is oversimplified."

Can you briefly explain why you -- well, first of all, what the concept of a horizontal equity is and whether you share Dr. Rivard's view and then why you believe his approach is oversimplified and what a more nuanced approach would be, in your opinion.

MR. GOULDING:  Thank you.

And I believe that Dr. Rivard's definition is on page 17, paragraph 32 of his affidavit.  And I first want to read his definition, and I want to emphasize that we don't disagree with his definition.

The affidavit states:

"Horizontal equity requires that people who are alike in all relevant respects be treated the same.  It corresponds to common notions of fair play and non-discrimination."

So I think that the question that arises is in what way are DR participants and generators alike in all relevant respects?

And when we look at the product that is being provided, in theory, if the market rules have been written appropriately, the product should be the same.

Now, when we start thinking about this question of whether there are short-run marginal costs that arise from participating in DR markets, I think that we need to bear in mind the diversity of market participants and the fact that being activated for many is not frictionless.  It is not as simple as flipping a switch and bearing no cost in doing so.

And so when we talk about a more nuanced approach, we believe that it is important to explore whether there are actually short-run avoidable costs that are incurred by DR providers, and we believe that if we are going to apply the concept of horizontal equity, that those short-run costs should be recovered.

So this is where we distinguish ourselves a bit from Dr. Rivard's evidence.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  One more question on these IRs, and this is your response to KCLP's interrogatory response 4A, where you respond that -- and I am skipping to the second sentence:
"With regards to economic efficiency, LEI's concern is with regards to the fidelity of the price signal and the need for a more nuanced approach."


Can you explain your reference to price signal, and why that is significant?

MR. GOULDING:  Certainly.  And it is important to note that both the capacity mechanism and the energy price are intended to provide a price signal.  And ideally, in terms of the proposed market design, we want those price signals to be as good as possible.

We want the participants to be revealing their costs and, in turn, we want the load to be responding to accurate price signals.

And our concern is that if we have resources that are bidding simply to avoid being activated, that the price signal is less meaningful.

Now, we can consider whether that -- those bids represent the true value of lost load.  It's possible that caps force people to bid at the cap, and that cap may still be below the true value of lost load.  But ultimately, when there is no payment whatsoever at the time of activation, this makes the energy payments, in my opinion -- or sorry, the energy bids less meaningful.

It also means that the risk premia that need to be embedded in the capacity bid are going to be higher.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Those are all of my questions for the witnesses from London Economics.  Thank you.

Cross-examination by.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Ms. Krajewska?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Krajewska:


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Good afternoon, Mr. Goulding and Mr. Hariri.  My name is Ewa Krajewska, and I am counsel for KCLP.

We have provided a cross-examination compendium.  I just wanted to check if both the Board and the witnesses have that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This is for panel 2, so this is a separate one from the one Ms. Krajewska had this morning.  We have it Exhibit K1.8.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  KINGSTON COGEN LP COMPENDIUM FOR AMPCO PANEL 2


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Thank you.  And I just wanted to go back to the instructions that you were asked by the OEB Staff.  I understand that one of the questions that you were asked by OEB Staff was to comment on the applicability of FERC order 745 to the Ontario market.  That's correct, yes?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And FERC order 745 concluded that when a demand response resource satisfies two conditions, it must be compensated for the service it provides to the energy market at the market price for energy.  Is that your understanding?

MR. GOULDING:  Just one second, please.  Sorry I am going back to the previous question because I wanted to make sure that the answer was correct, in the sense that we weren't specifically asked to discuss the applicability of -- well, I apologize.  We were asked to look at the applicability of FERC order 745 to programs offered by these markets.  We weren't --


MS. KRAJEWSKA:  You are looking at LEI's scope of work, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes, that's right, page 4.  But also to answer your subsequent question, yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Yes, thank you.  The two conditions in FERC order 745 were that the DR resource must have the capability to provide the service, which is described as displacing a generation resource in a manner that serves to balance supply and demand, and that the payment of the market price to the DR resource for the provision of the service must be cost-effective, as determined by the net benefits test.

Those are the two conditions, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And I assume that you are aware from your review of the materials that, in part, AMPCO, the applicant here, is relying on the FERC order to support its proposition that the amendments are discriminatory.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And in particular, that they rely on the statement that the demand response must be compensated for the services it provides to the energy market at the market price for energy.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And that the failure to do so is discriminatory?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Goulding, you have already taken us, in your examination-in-chief, to page 39 of your report, which is at tab C of my compendium, where you discuss a number of bullet points that describe the primary differences between the Ontario energy market and US ISOs.

And in particular, you discussed how 90% of all generation in the province is under regulated rates, and you also discussed the GA.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Is there anything else that you would like to highlight as significant differences between the Ontario and the US ISOs?

MR. GOULDING:  No.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And so in terms of the second point, the existence of the global adjustment in Ontario, would you agree that the benefits that large consumers of energy, so-called class A consumers, receive under the global adjustment is a form of demand response in Ontario?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And would you agree that if the ISO were to consider the FERC order 745, the calculation of the net benefits test would need to be adapted to take into account the ICI program and the global adjustment?

MR. GOULDING:  So my concern is that a focus on 745, in and of itself, I think obscures the question of what is right both theoretically and for Ontario.

And so while I agree with the premise that we should, in looking at any market rule, consider costs and benefits and consider them both from the perspective of the impact on consumers and on the economy as a whole.

I am not convinced that 745, in and of itself, is completely relevant to circumstances in Ontario today, seven years after the order and the order being in another jurisdiction entirely, nor am I convinced that the net benefits test, as set out by FERC for US markets, would be the way that I would seek to design a test today.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And, Mr. Goulding, if I could ask you to elaborate on each of those point.  Why do you say it is not relevant to Ontario, and that you would not recommend or see it as beneficial to transplant the analysis from FERC order 745 to Ontario?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, there have been a number of instances in the past two decades around the world where folks have more or less cut and pasted, in some cases literally cut and pasted market rules from other jurisdictions.  There are almost always unintended consequences.

So I would want to start with an analysis of the Ontario situation specifically and of the general concept and then use 745 as one piece of the overall analysis.

So I think that we need to look at the specifics of how load actually pays for power.  We need to look at the specifics of the providers of DR.  We need to have a strong understanding of the supply curves, both for the capacity mechanism and the energy markets.  And we need to have some understanding of not just where we are today, but where we would like to get to tomorrow with regards to the market design.

So I worry that 745 becomes imprisoning rather than empowering with regards to the analysis.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Goulding, as part of your retainer in this proceeding, you haven't had an opportunity to review the supply curves for demand response or the energy response in this proceeding?  There has not been that kind of evidence filed.

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct that there has not been that kind of evidence filed.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Mr. Goulding, then similarly, I assume with respect to the net benefits test as it is discussed in FERC order 745, would you also have some hesitancy about importing that type of analysis to the Ontario market?

MR. GOULDING:  I would have a similar set of hesitancy.  I think that conceptually it is important, as I have said previously, to do cost-benefit analysis on any market rule and to understand its implications from the perspective of all stakeholders.

But the net benefits test itself, as it is structured for U.S. markets, I don't believe would produce meaningful results in the Ontario context.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And Mr. Goulding, if I could just take you to tab D of my compendium.  This is more of a point of clarification with respect to one of your responses to interrogatories.

Question A was:

"Please identify any points on which LEI is in agreement with or disagrees with Mr. Rivard's assessment of the net benefits test and economic efficiency.  If LEI generally agrees with Mr. Rivard please confirm this."

And then in response you provided:

"LEI's disagreement of the assessment of the net benefits test lies primarily with regards to its relevance to the Ontario situation."

And my question of clarification is, it is -- you are not disagreeing with Mr. Rivard, I understand.  You are disagreeing with the application of the net benefits test to Ontario.  Is that correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  That's correct.  We're not disagreeing about the way in which the net benefits test is described.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  Thank you.  And Mr. Goulding, at tab F of my compendium is a brief filed by Amicus to the United States Federal Court of Appeals, and the Amicus here are leading economists.

Are you familiar -- have you had -- are you familiar with this brief?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Thank you.  And if I turn you to page 8 of 44 of that brief -- yes.  This is the first paragraph of the brief, and it simply describes who the Amici Curiae are, and that they're the leading economists and educators who have designed, studied, and taught, and written about electricity markets affected by the FERC.

And you would agree with that description of the -- who the clients or the Amici were in this brief?

MR. GOULDING:  I would agree that they are some well-known economists and educators.  I would question whether they are the leading economists and educators.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.  Well, I guess you -- fair enough.  That's fair enough.  But you would agree that in some sense they represent certain renowned economists in the United States who work in this area?

MR. GOULDING:  I think they're well-known people who spend a lot of time thinking about these issues.

[Laughter]

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.  And Mr. Goulding, in this brief they provide a general criticism of the FERC order and the kind of economic underpinnings of that order.  And in particular they raise concerns about the economic incentives that the order creates.

Would you generally agree with some of the comments that they've posited in their brief?

MR. GOULDING:  So there are some comments that I would agree with, some not.  But I think that in general the most challenging concept for anybody to get their mind around is whether or not there is a double payment and whether that results in a reshuffling of the merit order in either the energy or the capacity mechanism auctions.

And I think that what we've seen, first of all, is that eminent economists have been on either side of this.  Certainly no one would doubt that the late Dr. Kahn is also eminent and well-known.

And I think that is why I try and focus on thinking about what are the true short-run marginal costs that are incurred by a DR provider.

So I think that, you know, as we go through here, it's important to recognize that there is not a consensus among all noted economists as to the conclusions, and I think it is important to focus on what the key challenge is, which is figuring out what are the short-run marginal costs of DR participants.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.  But today -- and that's fair enough.  Can I take you to page 20 of that decision.

MR. MONDROW:  Page 20 of the brief?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Yes, sorry, it's 20 --


MR. MONDROW:  Or the decision?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  I haven't -- so just to be clear, I haven't page-numbered this part of the brief, because it was overlapping with the page numbers of the decision.  So I am referring to page numbers of the decision.  So I am referring to page 20 of 44.

Page 20 of 44, the last paragraph there talks about incentives and the danger that sometimes excessive incentive payments can be deeply problematic.

And this is, I think, a general statement, but would you agree that if the incentive is not properly calibrated, it may have -- cause damage in terms of incentivizing some forms of production while decreasing others?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I think it is a fairly generic statement, and it is important to define what we mean by excessive.  But generally speaking, of course, we want the incentive payment to be appropriately calibrated to produce the response that we want.

And if we pay too much we don't get the response that we want.  And if we pay too little, then we get also not the response that we want.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Right.  And in this circumstance, if you overcompensate demand response resources, you run the risk of perhaps deterring investment in generation.  That is a possibility?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that what we have to look at --you know, I would prefer not to use the words generation or DR at all.

I think that what we're looking for is the right amount to pay for the product that we are trying to consume.  And so if we're able to structure the market rules in a way that is technology neutral and allows for fair competition among the resources, that is what we should be striving for.

So I think the question of whether we characterize something as over compensating DR or unfairly favouring generation has to be examined through the lens of are we properly pricing the product that we're trying to consume?

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  And, Mr. Goulding, to go back -- as we discussed earlier, in the FERC order 745, how that compensation was determined to be allocated was by providing demand response resources with a payment based on the market price of energy.

What I understand, based on what you've said now, is that you are not necessarily advocating that that is the best outcome, in terms of the compensation.

MR. GOULDING:  I don't think it is the only approach and I want to emphasize that my mandate -- our mandate -- was not to design the optimum market rule for Ontario, and that that is something that I know that many the participants in this room have given great thought to and are continuing to do so.

That said, we believe that there may be other ways of configuring a rule that may not require provision of full LMP, which we don't have here in Ontario anyway yet as part of our market design, but that would be more than zero.

MS. KRAJEWSKA:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Mr. Barz, are you next?

MR. BARZ:  I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Barz:


MR. BARZ:  Good afternoon, Messrs. Harari and Goulding.  My name is Evan Barz, and I am here on behalf of the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  I have a couple of questions I wanted to ask regarding your evidence in direct, as well as it just came up at the end here as well.

Just a notion of -- I believe you indicated that the market rules should be designed so that they're technology-neutral.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. BARZ:  Can you just give me a short elaboration on what you mean by that?

MR. GOULDING:  So I believe that market rules should be product-based.  Now, it's important to understand that electricity markets have a number of products.  They're all intangible in some way.

We have energy.  We have something called capacity, which may or may not be recovered through a capacity mechanism.  We have ancillary services.  We have environmental attributes.

And what I believe we should be doing is starting with a description of the problem that we're trying to solve.  The problem we're trying to solve is neither in the abstract getting more demand response, nor is it keeping in business any particular kind of generation.

The problem that we're trying to solve is keeping the lights on consistent with customer expectations of reliability, using the resources that are available to us.

So if we define the products and the product auctions in an appropriate way and then allow a diversity of ways to meet that need, I believe we will best meet the needs of society.

MR. BARZ:  Do you agree that it is difficult or challenging for a market to design the rules such that they are truly equivalent as between different types of technologies?

MR. GOULDING:  So I think that market design is a process; it's not a destination.  And since the inception of competitive electricity markets, you know, call it mid 1990s -- we can argue about when they really started -- we've seen market rules consistently be refined, right.

And each time we refine the market rules, it is in response to a particular problem.  We have discovered that maybe the way that we define the product isn't getting us what we want.

So an example is the linkage in capacity mechanisms in the US increasingly to various kinds of performance, and linking compensation penalties around that.

And so while I would agree that it is difficult and that perfection is difficult to achieve, I don't believe that it is impossible to come up with reasonable ways for the rules to be indifferent, and then to monitor and to understand where we need to tweak them in the next iteration.

MR. BARZ:  I believe in your direct you indicated that the rules in FERC regulated jurisdictions have been frequently revised from time to time.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. BARZ:  And what are some of the reasons that those tweaks take place, or those revisions occur?  Is it because they've learned about the market and they have had to adjust based on how the markets operated under that current rule?

MR. GOULDING:  I would agree that there is a constant process of learning by doing, and that there is a continuous process of calibration in order to match the current circumstances prevailing in the marketplace.

MR. BARZ:  In response to one of my earlier questions, you said it would be very important to have a full assessment of the market, how it operates, the different participants, and to conduct an analysis of them before designing the rules, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. BARZ:  One of those pieces of information I believe you indicated was the costs that would be incurred by, for example, a DR response participant participating in that auction.

Would you want some clarity or some insight, some visibility into the costs that they're actually incurring before you would want to design the rules?

MR. GOULDING:  So I believe that it is important.  What I would say is that doesn't necessarily mean that I need the exact costs of each and every existing and potential participant.

It does mean that I need to have plausible categories of costs and, you know, just as fossil-fuelled generators are not homogenous in their cost structure, DR providers are not homogenous in theirs.

So I believe that we could come up with some reasonable buckets of costs that would guide an understanding of the way in which we might design an appropriate market rule.

MR. BARZ:  And within those buckets, would you want specific information or data?  Or would you just want a general category of here's the type of cost?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, understanding that my answer is not intended to be exhaustive, I would want to look at different categories.

I would want to have an understanding of what is truly avoidable in the moment.  In other words, if I continue producing my widgets, what cost do I avoid versus the cost that I incur when I shut down. And I would want to have an understanding generally of how this varies across industries.

So I think there is a variety of ways of obtaining that, but I would want to understand what is avoidable in the short term and what the drivers are of those particular costs.

MR. BARZ:  And in your experience, is that information easy to connect -- or collect, sorry, with -- if parties are forthcoming in that regard?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I think that the information can be collected, and it doesn't necessarily need to be collected directly from the widget manufacturer.  Right?  You could certainly collect similar information from the world's leading expert on widget manufacturing processes, for example.

So I think that the information can be gathered without necessarily requiring proprietary processes to be exposed in a general proceeding.

MR. BARZ:  Okay, thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Barz.

Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I do have a few questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Great.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  Mr. Goulding, I can refer you if you wish to page 31 of your report.  In Staff's compendium it has come out as page 60 of 86.  It might be easier to find it there.

And I just -- you mentioned off the top I think in your direct examination some of your primary or basic conclusions.

Am I correct that one of your conclusions is that there is a strong practical linkage between capacity market participation by DR resources and activation payments?

MR. GOULDING:  I would like to recharacterize that a bit if I could, which is, first of all, resources are not going to participate in any form if they don't perceive it to be remunerative.

And the part of what they're seeking compensation for is the risk of being activated and the costs that will be incurred.

So when we look at the market rules specific to the capacity mechanism and the energy market, the market rules need to enable the DR participant to recover the total of their need across the multiple product streams.

So conceptually, if we're recovering nothing in the energy market, we need to recover everything in the capacity market.  And consequently as we bid into the capacity market, we need to guess how often are we going to be activated and what are the consequences of that and make sure that we have a margin, if we guess wrong, that is built into our capacity bid.

So I would say that an understanding of the potential for activation and the financial consequences is critical for the DR resource to determine their bid in the capacity mechanism.

MR. MONDROW:  So if you look at the page I referenced in your report under heading 4.4.5, you see the highlighted strong practical linkage language, which is where I took that phrase.

But I think at the bottom of the next paragraph you sum up what you just explained, which is you say:

"This activation payment is therefore directly linked to participation on the capacity side."

And I think you just explained that.  Is that -- my understanding of that sentence correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  And am I correct that another one of your primary conclusions is that demand response participation in Ontario is proportionately lower than demand response participation in the U.S. FERC jurisdictional -- U.S. FERC jurisdictional -- jurisdictions that you looked at?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct, with a caveat, which is you -- it depends, again, on how narrowly we're defining demand response.

So I think that as we look at that we need to make sure that we take into account properly participants in the ICI program, even if they're not directly registered in the DR auctions.  But generally speaking, obviously I just stated it, I would agree with that conclusion.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  And if you could turn maybe to page -- again in Staff's compendium it's page number 68 of 86.  I think in your paper it is actually page 39.  And you see the -- sorry, the fifth bullet on the page.  It starts with "demand response procured".

And there, as you just corrected me, you're talking about the proportion of demand response, but you were specifically referring to the demand response option as the vehicle in that bullet.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you do conclude that bullet by saying:

"Procurement is limited to a small proportion of Ontario's total capacity."

And you are referring there to demand response procurement?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.

And one more question.  Do you think that it is conceptually appropriate to pay demand response resources for the energy services they provide to the energy market?

MR. GOULDING:  I want to be careful about terminology, in that I believe that it is appropriate for there to be some sort of payment upon activation.

I think that the actual market rule -- you know, I would need to look at how it was configured and whether that is at an Ontario equivalent of locational-based marginal price, whether it is some kind of a two-part bid.  My scope was not to come to a conclusion with regards to that, and doing so would require further analysis.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  You said earlier in response to one of my friends that market rules should be product base.  And I assumed by that you were referring, for example, to energy services as a product.  Is that what you meant?  Is that an example of the product when you referred to --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  That would be an example generally of the product.  I mean, there is many different ways that we can slice and dice that, but, yes, generally.

MR. MONDROW:  Understood.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

Mr. Zacher, are you next, or Mr. Duffy, are you...

MR. DUFFY:  Yes, I will take the questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Duffy:

MR. DUFFY:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  With respect to FERC order 745, you will agree with me that it was looking at barriers to entry for DR in the energy market.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And it specifically wasn't looking at DR in capacity markets, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And it made no conclusions about DR participation in capacity markets for that reason, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And at the time of FERC order 745, other markets in the United States had capacity markets in them.  Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Some did.  Some didn't.  The geography -- simplistically, we'll call it about half, maybe 60 percent by geography of the U.S. is covered by organized markets, or was at the time.  And, you know, those organized markets themselves differ with regards to whether they have some form of capacity mechanism.

MR. DUFFY:  What about the three markets that you identified in your paper?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  They had capacity mechanisms.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  So earlier you said that Ontario was in an earlier stage than these markets and that is because Ontario is still developing its capacity mechanism, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  That's correct.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.

Can I get you to turn up your report, page 39.  It is tab 3 of the Staff brief.

And I am going to...

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Duffy, is that page 39 of the report?

MR. DUFFY:  Of the report.

MS. SPOEL:  Can you tell us what page it is?

MR. DUFFY:  In the actual brief?

MS. SPOEL:  In the actual brief, because we don't have the report page numbers in our copies.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.   Oh, I see, okay.  I don't have the actual --


MS. SPOEL:  We have something of 86 pages.

MR. DUFFY:  Page 68.

MS. SPOEL:  Oh, already on it.  Thank you.  Perfect.  Thank you.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  Yes, we can stop right there.  So at the top of the page, you have three bullets there and  you say:
"Based on the demand resource programs in three US markets that I reviewed, the following conclusions can be drawn."


I want to ask I awe fie questions about your conclusions.

The first conclusion is that DR resources serve primarily by the provision of capacity in terms of total resource participation.

Can you just explain that briefly for us?

MR. GOULDING:  Sure.  So there are a variety of ways in which DR resources can be compensated, not all of them involve payment of capacity.

But our assessment of, when we look at how the funds actually flow, what people are getting paid for, the greatest proportion of what people are being compensated for was capacity.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  When you say "people" in that sentence, you are referring to DR resources, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Correct, absolutely.

MR. DUFFY:  If we look at the next bullet, the conclusion is when they - and that would be DR resources in these three markets, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  "When they have access to both capacity and energy related compensation, capacity revenues still form the bulk of their revenues," correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.  Then in the third bullet, you state:  "Compensation for dispatch of economic DR resources or activation of emergency/reliability resources is the common approach."


I will stop there.  So there's payment made in these three markets to DR resources in the energy market for activation, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And you then go on to state:
"But the actual dispatch (in aggregate) of economic DR resources is low, and activation of emergency/reliability resources is very infrequent."


Then you state:  "Meaning again that actual dispatch or activation is a very small proportion of revenues for most DR resources," correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Earlier you stated -- I believe you used the term extremely infrequent activations, is that accurate?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  I would have to look up the exact place, but that sounds correct.

MR. DUFFY:  And that would mean that as a proportion of revenues for a DR resource, what they're getting from the energy market would be likewise very small.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  And can I next have you turn to your IR responses, which will be tab 4 of Staff compendium.  And I would like to go to the response to IR number 4, which is page 79 of 86 of the brief.

And if we can just scroll up so we can all see the question, just so we set some context.

The question you were asked was:
"Based on its research conducted, has LEI formed an opinion regarding the economic impacts of providing energy payments to DR resources?  If yes, please state your opinion."


And if we turn to the next page, I'll read the first bit here for you.  It says:
"Given the short time period in which to develop its analysis and respond, LEI's opinions are preliminary and subject to change.  With that caveat in mind, LEI's views are as follows..."


And in the first paragraph you state:

"Based on the markets and programs LEI reviewed in its report, actual activation of DR resources has been relatively limited, and DR resource revenues from this activation have also been limited as compared to DR capacity revenues," and you reference section 4.4.

So that ties to those bullets we were looking at in your report, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  You then state:
"This implies that from a practical perspective, the benefit or harm arising from whether DR resources are provided energy payments may not be material in the near term."

Correct?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. DUFFY:  And am I right to take from that that whether or not there are energy payments made to DR resources, you view them as immaterial because the likelihood of being activated is so infrequent?

MR. GOULDING:  So I want to be clear over what time period we're talking about, and as to whether I view this as an important issue over the long run.

So over the long run, I believe it is an important issue and may become more material over time.

Over the short run, based on the historical participation, with the acknowledgement that one of the reasons that I'm concerned over the long run is that I do expect there to be change.

But over the short run, if we actually went and calculated the amount of money that is at stake, and that amount of money would be at stake only for this particular auction period, I believe that amount to be relatively small and perhaps absolutely small.

MR. DUFFY:  Right.  So if I were to put to you, for instance, that if dispatch is going to be extremely infrequent, then the risk premium that one needs to build into their capacity auction bid would be negligible or almost zero, correct?

MR. GOULDING:  I don't believe it would be zero.  And we can imagine circumstances where the market conditions could change quite suddenly, right.

And so if I were a DR resource, I don't think that I would be wise to assume zero.

MR. DUFFY:  But if you were a DR resource and the historical activations in Ontario are extremely infrequent, and even activations in other markets where payments are made is extremely infrequent, you will agree with me that in either scenario, you would treat your bid the same way.  No?

MR. GOULDING:  I think that the historical information would cause my risk perception to be low and perhaps biased.  But it would certainly cause my risk perception to be low.

MR. DUFFY:  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Rubenstein?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Mark Rubenstein.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I was wondering if you could first pull up -- actually, before you do that, I would like to follow up with some questions you were just being asked, where you were asked -- you caveated your answer about what the definition of short or long-term, what you're talking about.

I just want to be clear and very specific.  When you were talking about in the short term, are you specifically talking about the commitment period for the auction that is supposed to take place in December?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you are not talking about necessarily -- or let me ask you.  What type of time period, is it short term or long-term would we talk about in, say, 2023 where there is a forecasted capacity gap, I think we heard this morning, of somewhere between 3500 to 4,000 megawatts.

Is that closer to the short term or to the long-term, in your view?

MR. GOULDING:  So my answer was intended to relate solely to the auction at hand, with the understanding that there will be the opportunity for further review before the next auction takes place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But let's put aside that there may be further review for a moment.  I just want to understand from your perspective, because I understand that TCA auction is leading up to the -- the intent of it is to lead up ultimately to the larger capacity gap that will exist in 2023.

So I am just trying to understand your view.  In 2023, do you think it makes sense then to provide energy payments?  Or is it more likely that because it would be more likely to be activations by then?

MR. GOULDING:  So what I believe is that a process for further study is necessary soon with regards to these issues, so that we can come to a clear understanding of consequences prior to 2023.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if we could turn up your response to KCLP number 4.  And this is on page 79 of 86 of the Staff compendium.  Sorry, KCLP number 6.  Page 83 of 86.  Number 6.

So you were asked in part B:

"Does LEI agree with Mr. Rivard that as a result of the global adjustment the net benefits test will be satisfied less frequently, if ever, than in the U.S. markets?"

Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your response you say:

"LEI does not believe the net benefits test as configured for U.S. markets is appropriate for developing market rules in Ontario."

And then you go on to explain why you have that view.  Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I understand your view that the net benefits test, as set out in FERC order number 745, you don't agree has much application in Ontario.

But do you agree at a high level that some form of a net benefits test should be incorporated?

MR. GOULDING:  So I believe that I said earlier that I believe that any market rule should be subjected to a cost-benefits analysis.

Now, we want to be careful when we talk about a net benefits test to make sure that we understand net benefits to whom, whether we are talking about two customers, or whether we're talking about something that looks on a more generalized basis to society.

We need to determine the terms of this test.  I am not sure I would necessarily call it a net benefits test.  But I agree that undertaking any market rule change without considering the impact on final consumers would not be best practice.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I understand -- and you can correct me if I am wrong -- in FERC 745 the net benefits test there is looking at, in any given moment, if a certain payment should be authorized because --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I want to compare that to what I would call an overall cost-benefit analysis which looks at over some period of time are -- the benefits outweigh the costs, but not at any specific moment.

MR. GOULDING:  I understand your distinction, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  When you talk about cost-benefit analysis are you talking about the former or the latter?

MR. GOULDING:  So among my concerns about the net benefits test as described in 745 is whether it actually produces meaningful results at all in the moment.

And so -- and again, I highlight that my mandate was not to design a net benefits test for Ontario.  But what I would say is that if there is a way to design a meaningful, dynamic analytic approach that determines whether or not a DR bid should be accepted, then conceptually I would support that.

However, I want to highlight that we should not -- we should not place too much faith in these tests, because by necessity they oversimplify the situation of each individual consumer, depending upon the market design.

So if we are looking at putting together a dynamic -- we can figure out what the time period is, whether it is hour by hour or five-minute interval by five-minute interval -- I think that what we would want to do is make sure that it is meaningful and assess periodically whether it remains meaningful as market arrangements evolve.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand AMPCO's position in this application, that in their view a net benefits test is a pre-condition to energy payments to be made.  Are you familiar with that view of theirs?

MR. GOULDING:  So I would want to be taken to the point in the record that says specifically that that is a pre-condition for energy.  I heard some discussion of this this morning --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can do that if you want.

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can turn to AMPCO's response to Staff number 2.  So this was, for ease, this was in the K1.6, the IESO cross-examination compendium, tab 3.  Or actually, a better reference for you is SEC 3, their response to SEC 3, which is behind the blue page in that tab.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, which tab, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Tab 3 in the IESO compendium.  1.6.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If we can go to SEC 3, which is in that tab, but a little further down, I guess.  Further down.  A couple of pages.  SEC 3, yes.  Further.  Two more IRs.  Yes.  So this is the first reference I will give you.  And this is in the second paragraph where they say:

"In AMPCO's view, this includes consideration of the perspective of the majority of AMPCO's members who are not DR resource providers in whom the lowest possible electricity costs are of paramount importance.  The interests of Ontario consumers would be fully and appropriately protected by the development and application of an Ontario-specific net benefits test as required by FERC as a pre-condition to energy payments for DR resources."

Do you see that?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so I take it you see that, you agree with their position?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  Well, I agree that that is their position.  I am not agreeing it is my position.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  And so my question to you on that line is, would you believe that that should be a pre-condition for the payment of -- ultimately the payment of energy payments?

MR. GOULDING:  So I believe that before we implement the payments we need to understand what the consequences are.  Now, whether that entails doing an increment-by-increment net benefits test as envisioned by FERC or whether it envisions something else, and this response to the IR envisions an Ontario-specific net benefits test, I think it all depends on what that test would look like.

We can certainly imagine trade-offs between the administrative costs of doing a five-minute by five-minute test against, perhaps, some test that took place over a broader period that would, on average, produce results that are beneficial to consumers.

So I don't want to foreclose the nature of the net benefits test, but I do generally agree that we shouldn't do something before analyzing whether there are going to be benefits.

And if there are ways of putting in place breaks, if you will, that would highlight specific instances where it may not be beneficial and sort of excising them from the market rule, I think that would be sensible.

But the specifics of what those would be I think have yet to be determined.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we could go up now to AMPCO's response to Staff 2.  So a few pages up on that.

If we can just go a little bit down that page.  Sorry, the next page.

I just want to ask you about AMPCO's definition of what a net benefit is, and ask for your opinion about this.

In the last paragraph, it says:
"From AMPCO perspective, a properly constructed and applied Ontario specific net benefits test is required in order to ensure that demand resources will be paid for energy in a situation where it can cost-effective from the market's perspective, i.e. the consumers' perspective, for the resources to be utilized.  This means that the interests of all consumers are served by implementing energy payments because the utilization of the specific demand response resource in question is the most economically efficient action that should be taken to satisfy the need."

Do you agree with that?  Anything you want to add to that, or quibble with?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I think again, we need to look at the terms, and we need to think about short term versus long-term impacts.

And so when we assess the impact on consumers, we may want to think about not just how this affects the five-minute price, but how it affects long-term investment patterns in the industry.

We need to figure out over what time period we're doing the assessment, because one can imagine circumstances in which the test may be satisfied on a five-minute basis, but that the implications for the market as a whole may be potentially problematic over time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much for your assistance.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Ms. Djurdjevic, do you have any re-examination -- sorry.  Does the panel have questions?

MS. FRANK:  I have some questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry.
Questions by the Board:


MS. SPOEL:  I am getting ahead of myself.

MS. FRANK:  I do have questions for you, Mr. Goulding.  I was interested in your description of technology-neutral capacity markets.  And then I wondered if technology-neutral meant that indeed, the nature of the compensation should also be similar.

I am looking at the split between payments for capacity and payments for energy.

So if it didn't matter what technology would be, would a fair competitive market result in it didn't matter who bid in, they would likely get the same kind of payment for the capacity and the energy.  Would that result in fair competition?

MR. GOULDING:  I think this is challenging because we can look at this question two ways, right.

One is should they get the same amount, right.  And so what we have today, and I think rightfully so, are not, you know, what you bid is what you get markets, but we have a market clearing price that is based on the marginal cost of the last unit dispatched.

I should say the marginal bid rather than cost, depending on the market and whether you have audited costs or not.

And so under those circumstances, you might say, well, what's fair is that everybody gets the same energy payment.  They're providing the same service; they get the same energy payment.

The challenge is that when we go back to this question of price equals marginal cost, then we have this challenge as to how do we think about an avoided cost.  Do we think about that as a payment, or not.

So as I think about it, I think that the -- and I want to caveat this by saying that our mandate didn't allow us to provide extensive analysis on this particular question, so I am just giving you something off the top of my head.  It is always a dangerous thing to do.

But as I thought about this throughout the process, I started thinking about short run marginal costs, and that what would be fair is that for DR resources to, at a minimum, be compensated at their short run marginal cost when activated.

Now, that does produce a disconnect and you have to build a whole host of other rules around it, but it gets us away from the discussion of double counting.

So as we've seen, reasonable people can build an argument for the payment of the full locational based marginal pricing as being true equivalents.  I have yet to be convinced of that, but I am of the view that some payment reasonably consistent with short run marginal costs is -- for DR, is consist ten with the principles of fairness.

MS. FRANK:  So let's go back to that technology-neutral.  So you would say -- I understand if you're talking about a load that the marginal cost argument.

So let's go to a generator.  Would you also do the marginal cost for the generator?

I am just trying to keep them -- doesn't matter about the technology, they get the same thing?

MR. GOULDING:  I agree.  And my concern is that generally, we don't like so-called weddy-wig markets because our concern is that they start leading to the same uncertainties with regards to people trying to guess who -- you know, what other people's bids are going to be and they're trying to match them, rather than trying to reveal their true short run marginal costs with the expectation that the price will be determined by the last unit in.

So I agree with you that there is a disconnect in terms of saying, okay, well, we believe that the fossil generator should get that market clearing price, but that essentially -- and again bearing in mind that I have not sat and pulled together a full paper on this -- we are saying that for the DR provider, it is worth exploring the possibility that they reveal their short run marginal costs and an activation threshold.

Now, the way that I square the circle in my head is that just as the value that the generator receives in the energy market is their short run marginal cost, plus whatever margin they're making on top of it.  For the load -- in my hypothetical, one of many potential market designs that could be considered -- the load receives their short run marginal cost, and the benefit of the avoided cost, which increases based on whatever the market clearing price is.

Now, this is perhaps a messy solution.  I think I could design market rules that made it work.  But I think that, you know, I do want to avoid as much as possible having different market rules for each possible kind of technology.  But I think that the circumstances of DR may require some greater thought to what is fair and how we work that into the market design.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Then one other area.  When we were looking at the information that you provided in terms of how much of the payment was capacity versus how much was energy and the very small numbers associated with energy --


MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

MS. FRANK:  -- was that sample a sample that included both load and generation?  So would both parties be in those numbers, in the marketplace?  Or was that just --


MR. GOULDING:  I want to go to a specific figure, so that I answer the question properly.

Okay.  So in the Staff compendium, it is page 35 of 86.  It is figure 2 at the bottom of the page.

MR. GOULDING:  Figure 2.  I believe --


MR. HARIRI:  Can you repeat the question?

MS. FRANK:  I want to know if that data was based upon markets that had both load and generation to reflect those amounts.

So I don't care how much -- well, I just want to know that these payments reflected a market that had both generators and load customers offering the DR response.  And that is the breakdown of the payment.  It is just the relative -- the detailed numbers I don't care about.  I just want to know --


MR. HARIRI:  So the markets have generators and demand response competing in the same auction.  The numbers are for demand response resources only.

MS. FRANK:  So generation with -- this does not reflect what the generators are paid?

MR. HARIRI:  No.  If you want to see maybe something related to that it would be figure 23 and 24, I believe is more appropriate.  So that would be page 30 of LEI's report.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Figures 23 and 24 you're saying?

MR. HARIRI:  Yes.

MS. FRANK:  These are not easy-to-read figures.

MR. GOULDING:  We apologize.

MS. FRANK:  Help me with this.  What is it telling me?

MR. HARIRI:  So it is essentially demand response resources are on the -- total compensation or revenues related to demand response resources are on the left-hand side of the figures, and then total wholesale electricity costs are on the right-hand side of the figures.  And then the red areas are capacity and the green areas are energy.

So I think this ties into the point she was making earlier about -- or -- and the point we make in the paper that practically speaking for demand response resources the majority -- or the vast majority of compensation is related to the provision of capacity, as opposed to the provision of or activation for related payments.

MR. GOULDING:  Another way to think about these graphics -- and we can present them in a different way -- is that if you look on the left the red portion on the left is a small portion of the red portion on the right.

So the total payments to DR resources on the left are embedded within the total wholesale electricity costs on the right.

And so if we took on the right and had, let's say, a dotted line for the proportion of energy that goes to DR, that would be imperceptible, and the proportion of the total capacity markets would be -- so this total red here on the right, the red on the left would be a small perceptible, but not enormous part of the overall capacity mechanism-related electricity costs.

MS. FRANK:  And can I also read from this that over time, over this period that you've got from 2010 to 2014, that the demand response -- they were diminishing in terms of market participants while the generation was increasing, in terms of capacity.  Is that a fair statement or...

MR. GOULDING:  So it is important not to over-generalize, in that this particular data is from ISO New England.  It is not from all of the markets that we looked at or all of the markets in the U.S.

And so -- and some of this will be related to just year-on-year changes in market conditions.

Some of it will be related to, you know, particular changes in market rules that occurred at particular points.  And so --


MR. HARIRI:  And just to add to that, I think -- I mean, if you're look -- because this is showing total revenues and total costs, the primary driver would have been declining capacity costs themselves, not necessarily related to the amount of megawatts.

So it is cost times megawatts.  So the costs declining would lead to declining total dollar values.

MR. GOULDING:  Versus participation, so the overall market clearing price was falling.

MS. FRANK:  It is clear that this is all -- these graphs relate to the capacity markets, right?  They don't relate to the energy markets, they're capacity market graphs.

MR. GOULDING:  So the graphic is, if we look at the key, we see that the red portion is capacity.  The green portion is energy.  And so they are intended to look at within ISO New England the various product markets.  Not just capacity, but capacity and energy.

MS. FRANK:  So that -- but it doesn't do what I thought it was going to do.  I thought it was going to tell me how the participants who were load in a capacity market were compensated versus participants who were generation in a capacity market were compensated.  I was trying to put them on the same -- remember this technology-neutral which appealed to me, so...

MR. GOULDING:  Well, we can look at presenting this in different ways.  I believe it does get to that -- get to your objective, in the sense that what it's really telling you is that for DR resources a far greater proportion of their revenues comes from capacity than the average resource in the market.

So when we're looking at the right-hand side, what we see is that for the total market energy is a substantial portion of the overall revenues to generators.

And -- but that is not the case for DR.  So I think that you can draw some conclusions from these graphics that are consistent with what you are looking for.

MS. FRANK:  One last question, then I will let it go.

You said that looking at this data was only, you know, a short period of time and for a few markets.  But we have qualified you as experts.  So you can tell us about, in your expert opinion, how are things changing over time.

Is there going to be capacity markets that are primarily generation?  Or are they primarily load?  What is happening over time?  In your expert opinion what are you going to tell us?

MR. GOULDING:  So we could spend a day on that, and I will try not to.

MS. FRANK:  Yes, please don't.

[Laughter]

MR. GOULDING:  So the role of capacity markets is changing, more broadly.  And the reason for that is that we have an increasing prevalence of zero marginal cost resources that are mostly intermittent, but not entirely.

Now, what that means is that when those intermittent resources aren't available then we need to pay some other kind of resource, often a fossil-fuel resource, to operate.

The expectation is that over time this is going to make energy market prices more volatile.  That increases the risk if you don't have any other revenue stream.

And so I believe that it is reasonable to assume -- again, in general, across multiple jurisdictions -- that the role of the capacity mechanism is going to increase because you are going to have potentially a lot more flexible plants that are waiting around to be called, and in a good year they might not be called at all -- well, your definition of "good" needs to be clarified here, right?

In a year in which there is significant production from intermittent and zero marginal cost resources, those resources aren't going to be called.

It is similar to the challenge that we see in hydro-dominated Latin American markets, which are, good hydrology year, you don't need any of your gas plants, and in a bad year, you need more than you have.  So how do you figure out how to pay those gas plants to stick around?

So my belief is that for all resources, capacity markets -- or mechanisms, as I prefer to call them -- will become a larger proportion of the overall market revenues.

I think in addition, we're going to see a greater diversity of ways in which consumers obtain their electricity.  And to the extent that any of them are doing that outside of traditional market mechanisms, or at least what we think of as wholesale and retail, that's also going to change the divide between capacity and energy.

MS. FRANK:  Okay, thank you for those thoughts.

DR. ELSAYED:  Can you hear me?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  This microphone -- I guess I will have two microphones, so I will try to use both of them.

[Laughter]

DR. ELSAYED:  Is this better?

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  My question is similar to one I asked before, but there may be some overlap with what Ms. Frank just talked to you about.

Again, we heard quite a bit today about the historical fact that DR resources in the Ontario market have not been economically activated very frequently.

Based on your knowledge of other markets, under what circumstances can that change in the Ontario market going forward?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I think that -- again looking short term and long-term -- over the short term, a sudden supply shock would produce a sort of an all hands-on-deck-type situation under which DR, I think, would be called upon much more frequently.

And so for me, I believe that the most likely scenario is something goes dramatically wrong with a nuclear program over a time frame that is too quick to respond, right, you know, that in that period before you can bring every barge-mounted simple cycle gas turbine on the planet to float in Lake Ontario, you have to meet the short term needs of the system -- and look, in this day and age, you would probably meet that with a mix of batteries and other things, but you probably would be bringing in some short term resources.

I think under those circumstances, the system operator is going to be calling, where appropriate, as much DR as possible.

So if we imagine a hot summer, a higher than expected number of nuclear outages, a hot summer might mean that wind doesn't produce what you would expect, you might have poor hydrology as well.  So, you know, annoying though the phrase perfect storm is, we can nonetheless imagine a not completely I implausible set of circumstances that could occur over the near term that would cause DR to be activated much more than anybody expected, but consistent with the market rules.

DR. ELSAYED:  And the longer term.

[Laughter]

MR. GOULDING:  So in the longer term -- I shouldn't say I have visions, right.

[Laughter]

MR. MONDROW:  Not on the record.

MR. GOULDING:  Not on the record, yes.

[Laughter]

MR. GOULDING:  Yes.  We can imagine a market that -- getting back to what I said about an increasing number of intermittent resources, if we believe that demand response participation can provide a highly flexible, valuable way of balancing supply availability, we can imagine a circumstance where it becomes a much more active part of the energy market.

And so and -- look, I mean we have, you know, some projections that show batteries serving this role and ultimately the market will determine the relative costs of keeping a big battery available versus ramping down one or more large loads.  But the market is going to value highly flexible resources that will serve to balance intermittent resources.  And so this means that there is certainly an expectation that very sophisticated kinds of demand response would play an increasing role in that world.

DR. ELSAYED:  That's all for me, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  I just had one question which nobody has really touched on at all.

But when you are talking about net benefits, to what extent do you look at any externalities such as appropriate carbon pricing, if you are looking at the alternative between demand response, for example, and increased generation, which is usually fossil fuel.  Or does that not really factor into it from the...


MR. GOULDING:  First of all, what I hope that we're talking about is designing a good net benefits test, right.  One that is that is effective for Ontario and is consistent with, you know, economic theory.

And proper pricing of externalities I think is critical to making the right decisions for society as a whole.

Now, there are distributional impacts that come into play.  And I think that, you know, we can imagine a situation where you are just shifting between gas-fired generation, right.  It is just whether it is in front of or behind-the-meter.

And so, you know, under those circumstances the environmental consequences, you know, we don't know.  If the two generators had exactly the same efficiency, it would be a moot point.  You might have some benefits from avoided line losses, for example, or other things.

But I think that appropriate pricing of externalities is important in order for society to make the right decisions, and that would extend to designing the net benefits test properly.

MS. SPOEL:  Thanks.  Ms. Djurdjevic, do you have any re-examination?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just a couple of clarifications.
Re-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  There was some discussion with Ms. Frank about -- I am just trying to clarify whether we need an undertaking.  It was with respect to figure 23 and you indicated that there could be -- well, I guess the question is for Ms. Frank, whether the panel needs further clarification or another analysis of the information that was provided that would be more responsive.

MS. FRANK:  I would assume this would not be a simple task?

MR. GOULDING:  Well, it depends.  What I was actually envisioning was just adding a few lines to the right hand chart that would help to at least show, if we look at total wholesale electricity costs, right, what the proportion of capacity payments that were going to DR versus conventional generation and what the proportion of energy was that was going to DR versus conventional generation, and that might make it clear.

If we go to figure 25, for example, we can see a different view of this question.  But I think that at least for figure 23, we could add some dotted lines here that help to show that, you know, DRs is a very small proportion of the energy and a larger proportion of the capacity, if that would be helpful.

MS. FRANK:  If it's a simple task, I would say yes.  But if it takes, you know, effort to do, it's not something you can kind of do overnight, then I would say, no, don't bother.

MR. GOULDING:  Well, I will pass --


MS. FRANK:  I don't need it overnight.


MR. GOULDING:  -- it is easy for me to say something could be done overnight, but it's --


MS. FRANK:  I don't need it overnight.  I am just trying to get a sense of if it's a lot of work or it's not...


MR. HARIRI:  Doing what it is is not difficult, I am just not 100 percent sure whether it is getting to the heart of your question, which was related to how generation is compensated -- or conventional generators are compensated in the capacity market specifically versus --


MS. FRANK:  Right.


MR. HARIRI:  -- how load is compensated in the capacity market specifically.


MS. FRANK:  You're thinking it won't help me.


MR. HARIRI:  We can do it and then we will figure out if it helps or not.  How about that?


MR. GOULDING:  I don't think that what I am envisioning is a great deal of additional effort.  I don't think that the cost will stress the ratepayers.


[Laughter]


MR. GOULDING:  But, you know, I am really talking about taking the data we have, dividing it up differently, and putting another dotted line there, so --


MS. FRANK:  Can I suggest when you do this new table that you give us a little bit of a write-up underneath
it --


MR. GOULDING:  Sure.


MS. FRANK:  -- explaining what we've got?


MR. GOULDING:  Absolutely.


MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Good.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we will make that Undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN CALRIFICATION OR OTHER ANALYSIS OF FIGURE 23


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And then just one other question.  Again, this came up during your -- the questions that Ms. Frank was putting to you.  And you quickly glossed -- touched on the issue of -- called double-payment issue.


And I am wondering if you can explain -- do you want to develop that a bit further or explain that?


MR. GOULDING:  So I think, you know, one of the key questions is the perception that if you avoid a cost of a thousand dollars per megawatt hour and are also paid a thousand dollars per megawatt hour, that you are receiving a double benefit.


So -- and this is really what some observers -- at the heart of the critique that some observers have of the payment of LMP to dispatchable resources -- demand response, excuse me.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, that's all I have on re-examination.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you very much.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you very much.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, gentlemen.  That was very helpful.


We will adjourn now for the day, and we will resume on Thursday morning at 9:30.  I feel like saying it is a sleep-in, but it's not really, because there is lots that happens before we start, with Mr. Windsor.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:38 p.m.
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